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Ministry of
Labour 

Develops
 legislation and
regulations and

 is responsible
for enforcement 

and prevention.

Six designated 
health and safety 

associations provide 
training, education, 

and services related 
to occupational health 

and safety.

Provides 
compensation 
and return-to-work 
supports for injured 
workers. Funds the health 
and safety system through 
employer premiums.

Workplace 
Safety and
Insurance

Board 

Health 
and safety 

associations 

Serves the construction,
 electrical, utilities, 

aggregates, natural gas, 
ready-mix concrete
 and transportation

 sectors.

Serves the 
forestry, mining, 
pulp and paper, 

and printing 
sectors.

Serves the 
agricultural, industrial, 

manufacturing, 
and service 

sectors.

Serves the public service
sector including health 
and community care, 

education and culture, 
municipal and provincial 

government, and 
public safety.

Infrastructure 
Health and Safety 

Association

Public Services Health 
and Safety Association

Workplace 
Safety North

Workplace 
Safety and 

Prevention Services

Provides medical
diagnostics, information, 
and services to prevent 

work-related health 
conditions.

Occupational 
Health Clinics for
Ontario Workers

Provides training 
for workers, Joint Health 

and Safety Committee
 members, supervisors, 

and employers in 
every sector.

Workers Health 
and Safety Centre

By registering your new business with the WSIB, 
you automatically became a member of the 
Infrastructure Health and Safety Association

Who We Are
IHSA is part of Ontario’s health and safety system, which includes the Ministry of Labour 
(MOL), the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB), and six health and safety 
associations. As a member of IHSA, you get access to our health and safety training, 
products, and services at no charge or at a reduced price.

What we do
     IHSA is a leader in health and safety education. Through skills-
based training, auditing, and evaluation, we provide safety solutions 

to those who perform high-risk activities such as working at 
heights, working with energized high-voltage power 

systems, driving motor vehicles, transporting 
dangerous goods, working on suspended 
access equipment, and utility line 
clearing.

Lou Terpstra, 
Health and Safety 
Consultant

What you do matters 
to the health and safety 
of your employees

Make safety 
work for you. 
IHSA is your 
first step.
IHSA serves the following 

industries:

• construction

• electrical

• utilities

• transportation

• aggregates

• natural gas

• ready-mix concrete

You are 
automatically a 
member of IHSA if 
you are employed 
with a firm that 
pays premiums 
to the WSIB in 
Ontario in one of 
the rate groups in 
these industries.

EDUCATE

Educate yourself and your employees.
•  Take advantage of IHSA’s free training 

programs for members.

•  Access hundreds of free products and 

downloadable resources.  

www.ihsa.ca/Free-Products/Downloads.aspx

•  learn about your rights and responsibilities 

under the Occupational Health and Safety Act. 

ENGAGE
Engage your workers in health  
and safety.
•  Give five-minute safety talks each morning.   

www.ihsa.ca/resources/safetytalks.aspx

•  Conduct regular health and safety meetings.

•  Keep a record of what happens on the  

worksite.

EVALUATE
Evaluate your current health & safety program.
• Find legislative requirements and best practices based on 

your firm size.  

www.ihsa.ca/smallbusiness.aspx

•  Conduct hazard assessments and workplace inspections. 

www.ihsa.ca/smallbusiness/resources_small-businesses.aspx

•  Help workers understand the importance of reporting gaps 

in your health & safety system.
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Vision
Workplaces without injuries, illnesses, or 
fatalities.

Mission
To develop sector-specific partnerships 
and support their implementation 
of prevention solutions that provide 
continuous improvement in health and 
safety performance.

Who We Are
IHSA is a designated safe workplace 
association under section 22.5 of the 
Occupational Health and Safety Act. We 
are part of Ontario’s health and safety 
system, which includes the Ministry of 
Labour (MOL), the Workplace Safety and 
Insurance Board (WSIB), and five other 
health and safety associations.

IHSA serves the construction, electrical, 
utilities, aggregates, natural gas, ready-
mix concrete, and transportation 
sectors of Ontario. IHSA membership is 
comprised of 133,247 active firms and 
723,843 full-time workers.  

What We Do
IHSA is a leader in health and safety 
education. Through skills-based training, 
auditing, and evaluation, we provide 
safety solutions to those who perform 
high-risk activities such as working at 
heights, working with energized high-
voltage power systems, driving motor 
vehicles, transporting dangerous goods, 
working on suspended access equipment, 
and utility line clearing.

As part of the provincial health and 
safety system, you can be sure that the 
training, products, and services you get 
from IHSA adheres to the regulatory 
requirements and compliance standards 
established by the MOL and Ontario’s 
Prevention Office.

Membership
Companies and their employees 
automatically become members of IHSA 
by registering their business with the 
WSIB and paying premiums in one of the 
rate groups listed on the next page.

About IHSA

IHSA members 

get access to our 

health and safety 

training, products, 

and services at 

no charge or at a 

reduced price
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Note: Membership is based on the number of full-time equivalent workers 
(FTEs). It is an estimate based on the average hourly wage for the rate group 
and the insurable earnings for the calendar year, assuming a person works an 
average of 2,000 hours per year.
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Transportation
252,302 FTEs

Electrical and
Utilities
59,375 FTEs

35
8

%

%

133,247 Active M
em

ber
 F

irm
s

Source: WSIB/EIW 2016 Snapshot 
current to March 2017
Source: WSIB/EIW 2016 Snapshot 
current to March 2017

Membership by Rate Group 
	 Rate	Groups	 				 	FTEs	 %
	 	 	
551	 Air	Transport	Industries	 13,609	 2
553	 Air	Transport	Services	 13,967	 2
560	 Warehousing	 26,956	 4
570	 General	Trucking	 92,217	 13
577	 Courier	Services	 21,145	 3
580	 Misc.	Transport	Industries	 9,933	 1
584	 School	Buses	 16,364	 2
681	 Lumber	and	Builders	Supply	 48,333	 7
689	 Waste	Materials	Recycling	 9,778	 1
	
134	 Aggregates	 7,684	 1
497	 Ready-Mix	Concrete	 5,442	 1
704	 Electrical	and	Incidentals	 52,369	 7
707	 Mechanical	and	Sheet	Metal	 69,057	 10
711	 Roadbuilding	and	Excavating	 45,076	 6
719	 Inside	Finishing	 40,933	 6
723	 ICI	 43,427	 6
728	 Roofing	 13,483	 2
732	 Heavy	Civil	 14,846	 2
737	 Millwrighting	and	Welding	 13,388	 2
741	 Masonry	 7,741	 1
748	 Formwork	and	Demolition	 5,582	 1
751	 Siding	and	Outside	Finishing	 21,759	 3
755	 Non-exempt	Partners	 10,280	 1
764	 Homebuilding	 61,099	 8

830	 Power	and	Telecommunication	Lines	 11,957	 2
833	 Electric	Power	Generation	 21,415	 3
835	 Oil,	Power,	and	Water	Distribution	 20,299	 3
838	 Natural	Gas	Distribution	 5,704	 1
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IHSA is two years into our new three-year strategic plan 
(2015–2017). We aligned our plan with the prevention priorities 
outlined in the Ministry of Labour’s Healthy and Safe Ontario 
Workplaces. Having strategies that are aligned will help us 
both accomplish our goals by focusing our health and safety 
resources where they are needed most and where they can 
have the most impact. 

The strategic direction of our current plan is to develop, deliver, 
measure, and evaluate safety education. IHSA will accomplish 
this by focusing on three main themes: 

1. Targeting those of greatest need

2. Enhancing service delivery

3. Developing sustainable business

As our 2016 Annual Report will 
demonstrate, we have been effective 
in reaching and serving our target 
groups, such as vulnerable workers and 
those working in high hazard areas, 
and we continue to look for new and 
innovative ways to engage them. We 
continue to serve our stakeholders and 
enhance our service delivery by, for 
example, promoting the Certificate of 
Recognition (CORTM) program. And 
we continue to develop strategies for 
sustaining our business, such as improving delivery of our 
health and safety services by putting training aids online for 
easier access.

IHSA instructors Deborah Moskal (l) and Alex Hernandez (r)

Strategic Plan
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2015‐2017
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Targeting those of 
greatest need

Enhancing 
service delivery

Developing 
sustainable 

business 
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Having strategies that are 

aligned with the Ministry 

of Labour will help us both 

accomplish our goals by 

focusing our resources where 

they are needed most

Vision:
Workplaces without

injuries, illnesses
or fatalities

Develop 
Sustainable 

Business

Integrated
Services

Safety
CultureCollaborative

Partnerships

Standards

Quality
Assurance

Revenue
Generation

Continuous
Improvement

Measurement 
and Evaluation

Enhance
Service 
Delivery

Target 
Those of 

Greatest Need

High
Hazards

Small
Business

Vulnerable
Workers



6 ihsa.ca6 ihsa.ca

Message from the President and CEO
If I were to point to one specific initiative 
that would summarize 2016, it would 
be promotion; promotion through 
social marketing to change cultural 
perspectives in all Ontarians that unsafe 
workplaces and worker injuries are 
unacceptable and promotion through 
brand marketing to the sectors we 
serve to increase their awareness of the 
resources available to them.

The objective of this Annual Report is 
to summarize these marketing efforts 
and others throughout the year, which 
contributed to our mission: Ontario 
workplaces that are free of incident and 
injury. It will also reveal how IHSA best 
serves the construction, transportation, 
electrical utilities, and aggregate industries 
by making them aware of the extensive 
knowledge base and pool of resources 
that are readily available to them.

By implementing various pilot programs, 
IHSA was able to get an accurate 
measurement of marketing initiatives that 
would achieve cost-effective exposure 
to a very large and diverse audience. 
Utilizing the Toronto Transit Commission 
(TTC), Ontario’s largest system of public 
transportation, IHSA was able to engage 

millions of commuters on a weekly basis 
with a simple message—to return home 
safe after the work day. 

Having the “Keep Your Promise” (KYP) 
advertising campaign on the most 
popular subway and bus routes in the 
GTA was a way to generate interest in 
workplace health and safety in the general 
public. Occupational health and safety is 
everyone’s responsibility. In order to be a 
catalyst for change, you need to involve 
friends and family and introduce the 
truly important reasons why workplace 
incidents and injuries must be prevented. 
In much the same way, the battle against 
drinking and driving isn’t just about 
targeting licensed establishments and 
anyone driving a motor vehicle.

The creative development of the KYP 
Campaign presented those reasons 
visually in a number of scenarios with 
the aim of entering into the homes of 
workers and planting the seed for open 
discussion concerning occupational 
health and safety. In support of the TTC 
program, the campaign was used in a 
significant number of local hockey arenas 
across the province, as well as print 
publications popular to IHSA members. 

Another means of reaching significant 
audiences and expanding our 
communications to the general public 
was being at the forefront of major 
events like Skills Ontario, Partners in 
Prevention, and a number of home 
and renovation shows. These efforts to 
reach the general public are essential in 
driving home the importance of health 
and safety in Ontario workplaces, raising 
the social unacceptability of workplace 
injuries, and having more workers 
returning home safely each day.

As we drive more awareness and users to 
IHSA and develop more partnerships, we 
must instill and maintain their confidence 
in our programs, products, and 

Enzo 
Garritano, 
President 
and CEO, 
IHSA
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Message from the President and CEO
services. Building this confidence has been 
our focus for over 100 years and it is founded 
in our staff. IHSA continues to maintain 
subject-matter expertise and experience 
in the sectors we serve. Our stakeholder 
engagement furthers, and complements, our 
technical knowledge. Combined, IHSA is 
able to develop new relationships with our 
members and buyers of services, who in-turn 
rely on IHSA to consistently deliver products 
and services that can be depended upon.

Our marketing efforts in 2016 were aimed 
at extending our reach through channels 
that are increasing in popularity among our 
members and those buying their services. IHSA 
piloted a number of marketing initiatives with 
displays set up in Home Depots across Ontario, 
direct-call pilot programs, radio advertising, 
and digital advertising campaigns through 
mediums such as kijiji. 

IHSA was able to focus marketing specifically to 
small businesses in the province and distribute 
resources that catered to their needs such as 
Safety Talks and others. Overall, we are very 
proud of the significant results this marketing 
yielded—IHSA saw its web activity double in 
size, from approximately 3 million pageviews in 
2015 to over 6 million pageviews in 2016.

As I reflect on 2016, I am 
very proud of the efforts 
of all our staff, our Board, 
our volunteer networks, 
and our system partners 
and affiliates for our 
accomplishments. As an 
organization, we were 
able to expand our reach, 
elevate the quality of our 
products and services, 
and take positive steps 
forward in raising social 
responsibility among 
all Ontarians. By generating more interest 
in IHSA and raising more awareness around 
the resources we provide, we can be assured 
that our efforts contributed to the health and 
safety culture of this province and our goal of 
returning all workers safely to their families at 
the end of the day.

Sincerely,
Enzo Garritano

President and CEO, IHSA

Safe winter driving promotion at 
CTV News Kitchener

Efforts to reach the 
general public are 
essential in driving home 
the importance of health 
and safety in Ontario 
workplaces, raising the 
social unacceptability of 
workplace injuries, and 
having more workers 
returning home safely 
each day
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The Infrastructure Health and Safety 
Association worked hard in 2016 to 
solidify its brand presence and reputation 
as a trusted training provider and sought 
to extend its reach to the general public. 
Many different initiatives were put in place 
in an attempt to get all Ontarians actively 
involved in workplace health and safety. 

There was a lot of increased awareness 
gained through targeted advertising and 
major event sponsorship throughout the 
year, which generated great feedback 
from industry partners, trade unions, and 
key stakeholders—but most importantly, 
from family and friends.

One of the real standout initiatives was 
the Keep Your Promise Campaign that 
could be seen on a daily basis on local 
transit, reinforcing the importance of 
working safe every day and reaching an 
audience that included all workers, not 
just the ones best served by IHSA.

Also on the rise among our membership 
is an understanding of the significance 
of developing and maintaining a health 
and safety management system, and 
how programs like CORTM are an 
important piece of that development. 

With more buyers of services requiring 
CORTM as a prerequisite for bidding, and 
having more businesses registering 
for and successfully completing CORTM 
certification, IHSA has a compelling 
investment in shaping the future of 
occupational health and safety in Ontario.

Of course we would be remiss if we 
didn’t bring attention to the many efforts 
in the facilitation and training of the 
Working at Heights program, either from 
IHSA or through one of our associate 
trainer organizations. The association 
was faced with the daunting task of 
supplying a high-quality program to 
an overwhelming number of workers. 
To be able to overcome so many 
barriers, including time, space, and even 
languages, and successfully deliver this 
program is a testament to the level of 
professionalism and expertise within 
IHSA.

In 2016, IHSA displayed evidence of 
increased business development and 
sustainability as it continued to work 
with its many partnerships in an effort 
to deliver the products and services that 
best serve the industry. 

Through programs like CORTM and 
Working at Heights, and with an 
increased overall branding awareness, 
it’s easy to see that IHSA is enhancing 
the services that it has a reputation of 
delivering. These are the very strategic 
goals that IHSA set out to achieve in 2015 
and 2016. 

Looking ahead to 2017, we’ll be seeking 
to capitalize on this new momentum and 
build upon the brand of IHSA, which is 
growing stronger alongside its system 
partners and affiliations.

Representation within the current board 
membership is extremely strong and we 
are very encouraged by the advancement 
of IHSA’s strategic priorities. Twenty-
sixteen was a great success in terms of 
gaining momentum with the general 
public and the industry as a whole, and 
this success continues to demonstrate 
why IHSA is a leading advocate for 
working safely in Ontario.

Message from the Board of Directors
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Don Schultz
Millwrights Regional Council 

of Ontario

Claudio Mazzotta
Drywall Acoustic Lathing &

Insulation, Local 675

Dave Whyte
Hydro One

Dave Whyte
Hydro One

David Johnston
Toronto Hydro

Tom Lachance
TESC Contracting Company 

Ltd.

Len Poirier
UNIFOR Canada

Joe Redshaw
International Union of 

Operating 
Engineers, Local 793

Darrin Husack
ConDrain Group

Brian MacDonald
Teamsters 

(Canada – Local 91)

To be able to 

overcome so 

many barriers, 

including time, 

space, and even 

languages, and 

successfully 

deliver [the 

Working 

at Heights] 

program is a 

testament to 

the level of 

professionalism 

and expertise 

within IHSA

Message from the Board of Directors

Mike Archambault
Aecon Group Inc.

Mike Dauncey
Mattamy Homes

Bob Kerr
Brick and Allied Craft 

Union of Canada

Michael Frolick
Transpro Freight Systems Ltd

Amanda Hall
Midland Transport Ltd

Jack Dowding
IBEW Construction Council 

of Ontario

Joe Pessoa
CUPE Local One
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Part of the IHSA Strategic Plan for 2015 
to 2017 was to target those of greatest 
need. For our membership, we identified 
three major categories:

1. Vulnerable workers
2. Workers who perform high-hazard 

activities
3. Small businesses 

Vulnerable workers 
We define “vulnerable workers” as those 
who have a greater exposure than most 
to conditions hazardous to health and 
safety and who lack the power to alter 
those conditions. This includes young 
workers, new workers, non-permanent 
residents, workers in an unclear working 
relationship, and workers who may have 
low wage earnings.

New Canadians
A portion of this group is new Canadians 
whose first language may not be English. 
To assist these members, IHSA has been 
working to provide products and services 
in multiple languages. As well, we 

have been looking into communication 
methods that are based less on text and 
more on images and symbols.

IHSA has been offering our Working at 
Heights—Fundamentals of Fall Prevention 
(WAH) course in multiple languages 
since 2015. Safety speaks many 
languages and we felt it was important 
that participants receive training on this 
high-hazard activity in a language they 
best understand. 

Besides English, we have translated the 
course material into 11 other languages. 
Courses in French are taught by one 
of our bilingual instructors and are 
offered primarily in the Ottawa area 
and in Northern Ontario. Courses in 
the ten other languages are offered in 
the GTA area and are taught by English 
instructors with the assistance of an 
interpreter. 

Targeting Those of Greatest Need

In 2016, IHSA 
delivered 

57 Working 
at Heights 

courses 
in 11 other 
languages

WAH is now 
available in French, 

Cantonese, Croatian, 
Italian, Mandarin, 

Polish, Portuguese, 
Russian, Serbian, 
Spanish, Turkish
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Web pages with WAH 
course information were 
developed for each 
of these languages to 
enable participants to 
register more easily. Our 
ReadSpeaker software 
even reads our web 
pages aloud in whichever 
language is used. We 
also developed web 
pages with important 
health and safety 
information every worker 
should know, regardless 
of their English literacy.

In 2016, some of our health and 
safety products were translated 
into French and we made 
greater use of illustrations and 
pictograms rather than text to 
communicate our message.

WAH web pages developed 
in Cantonese and nine other 

languages

A new WHMIS 2015 (P003) 
poster was developed to help 
vulnerable workers recognize 

when they’re working with 
hazardous products

ReadSpeaker reads our web 
pages aloud to assist those 

with language issues or 
visual disabilities

Rights of workers in 
Ontario web page 

developed in Spanish and 
nine other languages

IHSA’s downloadable form 
Owner’s Duties: Designated 
Substances on Construction 

Projects (W130) was 
translated into French

IHSA’s Handbook for 
Construction Traffic 

Control Persons (B016) was 
translated into French 
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Young workers 
For those just starting out in 
a trade, it’s important that 
safety be part of the job 
from day one and continue 
throughout their career. IHSA 
takes part in many events and 
demonstrations throughout 
Ontario to promote safe 
work to apprentices in the 
trades and to young people 
considering a future career in 
the trades. From school-based 
events to Labour-Management 
Committee displays, IHSA 
is committed to sharing the 
concept of safety on the job 
with young workers. 

Future Building
Future Building is an 
annual, interactive, three-
day exhibition organized by 
the Ontario Construction 
Secretariat. It provides young 
workers and students with 
the opportunity to learn more 
about a variety of construction 
trades through hands-on 
displays and interactive 
exhibits.

IHSA’s interactive photo 
booth at Future Builders 
2016 enabled more than 
5,000 grade 7 to 12 
students in London, ON, 
to experience hands-
on activities in the ICI 
construction sector 

— James Wright, Projects and 
Communications Coordinator,

Ontario Construction Secretariat

Having IHSA at our 
construction event, 
Future Building, 
was great. Teaching 
students about job 
safety at an early age 
will make a difference 
in their future. We 
appreciate the 
participation of IHSA.

IHSA handed out information 
on young worker safety to 
students and future career 
seekers 

”

“
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Skills Ontario
The Ontario Technological Skills Competition (OTSC) gives students the 
opportunity to demonstrate the skills they’ve learned as part of their 
training. IHSA provides support to this event as a sponsor but also through 
promotion, staffing, and various partnerships that allow young people to 
see that these career options can be creative, interesting, and safe.

In 2016, IHSA was once again a platinum sponsor for Skills Ontario

For the second year, IHSA’s photo 
booth won the 2016 Career Exploration 
Showcase Award in the Large Booth 
Category

More than 20,000 visitors,  
competitors, and volunteers were  
able to see IHSA’s indoor displays and 
PTA skills demonstrations

– Barry Harrison, 
Director of 
Competitions,
Skills Ontario

As a Premier Sponsor, IHSA has been a 
tremendous supporter of Skills Ontario in 
helping us grow Canada’s largest skilled-
trades competition. IHSA’s contribution 
has allowed us to ensure more students are 
aware of the opportunities in all skilled trades 
and technologies, including the Powerline 
Technician trade.”

“

More than 2,000 
competitors from 
high schools 
and colleges 
took part in 67 
skilled trade 
and technology 
contests
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Line Crew Ground Support 
(LCGS) program 
IHSA was once again a partner 
in the successful Line Crew 
Ground Support (LCGS) training 
program, which is based out 
of Cambrian College. As of 
the end of 2016, this program 
has prepared approximately 
75 young Aboriginal workers 
for careers in the powerline 
and construction industries. 
According to Cambrian 
College, about 80 per cent 
of the graduates are working 
in the field, and many have 
progressed into powerline 
apprenticeships with their 
employers. 

Graduates complete safety 
modules and hands-on training 
in jobsite tasks such as pole 
line construction, working at 
heights, hoisting and rigging, 
and crane operation. They 
leave the program with several 
training certificates and useful 
knowledge of safe work 
practices and techniques that 
will be used immediately on the 
job or that can act as a building 
block for future careers.

   I wouldn’t be where I 
am today without this 
program. There are a lot 
of opportunities out there 
for highly trained and 

competent workers like 
us and a lot of companies 
out there looking at this 
program now.

Graduates complete hands-on training in pole 
line construction and crane operation

IHSA partners with Gezhtoojig 
Employment and Training to offer the 
LCGS program

— Carlo Metatawabin,  
LCGS program graduate

Guest speaker at IHSA’s AGM

”

Many graduates 
have progressed 

to powerline 
apprenticeships

About 80 per 
cent of LCGS 
graduates are 
working in the 

field
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I have been a health and safety instructor 
and consultant with IHSA (and the former 
CSAO) for 27 years and I’ve had the 
opportunity to facilitate many programs 
with demographically diverse audiences. I’ve 
always felt that, in my own little way, I was 
making a difference and helping people 
make it home at the end of the day.
 
I’ve been thanked at the end of a program, 
which usually ends in a handshake as we 
part to go our own separate ways. Much 
of our responsibilities lead us on the road, 
which makes it difficult to receive a face-to-
face thank you for a job well done, although 
we know it’s implied. 

A colleague recently asked me, “How can 
an invested instructor impact a participant?” 
Well it just so happens I had a moment not 
long ago that hit home with me.

I have been involved in the Line Crew 
Ground Support (LCGS) program. It was 
initiated four years ago and was aimed 
at reaching out to Indigenous youth. 
Participants would obtain extensive training, 
which would make them very attractive to 
potential employers. 

As usual when I begin a program, I speak as 
a Safety Professional but also as a person 
who has been there before. I also can’t help 
speaking from the heart as a father of two 
children who are about the same age as the 
students. 

I remember talking with one group who told 
me that the program was demanding and 
really out of their comfort zone. The LCGS 
program is extremely regimented.

I replied that they were here of their own 
free will, with the objective of perhaps 
changing their lives. I’ve always promoted, 
even to my own children, that education 
is power. I concluded with a comment to 
one individual saying, “You complete this 
program and one day you’ll be walking into 
a dealership and saying I’ll take that one.” 

After a time, I found myself back teaching 
the LCGS program. It was midday when 
a person knocked on my door. I looked 
over and saw that it was the gentleman 
from a few years back that I had made the 
comment to about the dealership. I invited 
him in and asked him if he could share with 
my class his experiences since graduation. 

As he spoke of the many positive aspects of 
the program, I could feel the morale in the 
class lift. He concluded his comments and 
then turned to me and said, “By the way, I 
pick my new truck up next week. Thank you 
for your support and encouragement to 
finish the program. My life has turned 180 
degrees.” 

Maybe I’m getting soft but with a lump in my 
throat I got up, shook the man’s hand, and 
said you’re very welcome, anytime. That day 
I learned how much of a difference I could 
make, how much of a difference we can all 
make. We do our job with little recognition 
sometimes, but when one of our participants 
thanks you from the heart, it makes those 27 
years all worth it. 

— William (Bill) Woodliffe
IHSA Health & Safety Consultant

After 28 years in health and safety, Bill will be retiring in 2017. He leaves behind a legacy of safer, healthier workers. 

Can We Make a Difference?
An IHSA  COnSuLtAnt’ S  Per SP eCt Ive
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Workers who perform high-hazard 
work activities are at a greater risk 
of injury and illness because they 
have regular exposure to potential 
sources of serious harm or ill health 
effects. This type of work may include 
working at heights, operating motor 
vehicles or heavy equipment, working 
underground, or working with 
designated substances.

Working at heights
Falling from heights continues to be 
one of the biggest concerns for IHSA 
member firms. When the Working at 
Heights Training Standard and new 
training requirements came into  
effect in 2015, IHSA was one of the 

first training providers to be approved 
by Ontario’s Chief Prevention Officer. 
Since then, over 100,000 people in 
Ontario have taken our approved 
Working at Heights—Fundamentals of 
Fall Prevention (WAH) course.

IHSA’s WAH training program 
provides workers with the basic fall 
prevention information they need to 
work safely in areas where they may 
be exposed to fall hazards. It includes 
classroom training as well as hands-
on instruction and evaluation. We 
offer this course in French as well as 
10 additional languages common to 
the construction sector (see page 10 
for more info).

High-hazard activities 

Our WAH 
course 

includes 
classroom 
instruction 

and hands-on 
evaluation

Since 2015, 
more than 

100,000 
participants have 
taken IHSA’s new 

WAH training 
program
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Associate training Partners
One of the biggest issues facing IHSA 
has been the ability to keep up with the 
demands for WAH training. In addition 
to our highly skilled IHSA instructors, 
we have trained over 400 external 
instructors to deliver IHSA’s WAH 
program since April 2015. That amounts 
to more than 200 Associate Training 
Partners. 

IHSA’s Associate Training Partners go 
through a formal approvals process. 
They must meet the qualification 
requirements of our internal instructors, 
which include real-world experience 
and training in adult teaching and 
facilitation. If approved, they must 
sign a Training Partner Agreement 
and complete IHSA’s WAH Instructor 
Workshop. To ensure that our programs 
are being delivered as intended, we 
periodically audit our training partners.

Growing our network of associate trainers is the best 
way to ensure that we continue to meet the training 
needs of our members 

Every month, an average of 4,000 workers 
are being trained in WAH by IHSA and our 
Associate Training Partners. We are hopeful 
that our collective efforts will continue to push 
down fall-related injuries and more importantly, 
eliminate fall-related fatalities.

 —Enzo Garritano, President 
and CEO, IHSA

”

“
400 

External 
Instructors

200 
Associate 
Training 
Partners

“The analysis that we’ve done looking at 
the marketplace, there’s never enough 
capacity, so we also have to involve 
the private training community, which 
we lean on IHSA for.”

— George Gritziotis
Chief Prevention Officer of Ontario
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External Trainers

Internal (IHSA)
Trainers

72%

28%

34,657

13,55148,208
Total 

Participants

5,508 
Total WAH 

Courses 
Delivered in 

2016

Number of Participants in IHSA WAH Courses 2016
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WAH Expectations video: High-Risk Training 
Instructor, Sean Hooper, goes over the three 
key elements required to receive a Certificate of 
Completion for IHSA’s WAH course

WAH Elements video: High-Risk Training Instructor, Alex 
Hernandez, takes viewers through the personal protective 
equipment used during the hands-on evaluation portion of 
IHSA’s WAH course

WAH training videos 
In an effort to better prepare 

the increasing number of WAH 
participants and external training 

partners, IHSA produced a 
short YouTube video series 
that covered some of the 

key elements involved in the 
program

After just one 
month, viewership 

reached over 
2,000 for the 
WAH playlist
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In 2016, IHSA trained 196 students who were successful in 
all four levels of the PTA program 

Powerline Technician 
Apprenticeship
The Powerline Technician 
Apprenticeship (PTA) program 
has been a cornerstone of the 
training department at IHSA 
and its electrical predecessor 
association (E&USA) for 
decades. Workers in this trade 
perform high-hazard work, often 
in perilous working conditions. 
It requires a high level of skills, 
experience, and training to do 
this job and do it safely. 

As part of our measurement 
and evaluation process, pre- 
and post-tests were delivered 
to all PTA participants. The 
results show an overall increase 
in knowledge, demonstrating 
that students have not only 
learned but retain what they’ve 
learned. By providing practical 
demonstrations of safe work 
methods at the beginning of 
their career, IHSA helps ensure 
a life-long practice of safety on 
the job.

It is rewarding to witness the 
progression in knowledge and 
understanding of the trade 
when an apprentice returns 
for their next level of formal 
training. Having the influence to 
mould the basics for accurate and 
safe work methods is rewarding and makes you 
feel that you are doing your small part to make 
the trade and new workers in the trade safe for 
years to come. 

IHSA instructor Val Ward (centre front) trains powerline apprentices 
at our Skills Development Centre (SDC) in Mississauga

— Dennis Smith, Manager, Powerline 
Apprenticeship and Training, IHSA”

“
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“IHSA works hard at delivering up-to-
date and relevant training for my 
students. The instructors with IHSA 
are second to none—experienced 
and knowledgeable. Best partners 
to have in the business.”

— Bruce Cowtan, Professor,
Powerline Technician program, Cambrian College

Partnerships with 
Cambrian and St. Clair 
Along with the PTA courses held 
at the SDC in Mississauga, IHSA 
supports powerline technician 
apprenticeship training through 
partnerships with Cambrian 
College in Sudbury and St. Clair 
College in Chatham. 

Bruce Cowtan, a professor 
at Cambrian College, was a 
guest speaker at IHSA’s 2016 
Annual General Meeting. He 
spoke about IHSA’s unique 
training relationship with the 
college and how it has helped 
a new generation of powerline 
technicians in Ontario.
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Transportation Services 
Strategy
Motor-vehicle incidents (MVIs) 
in the trucking industry have 
been a leading cause of 
fatalities for our members over 
the last few years. In 2015, IHSA 
embarked upon a “deep dive” 
into the transportation sector 
and the services we provide to 
the industry. 

The IHSA Transportation 
Services Strategy (Deep Dive) 
continued throughout 2016 
with a focus on stakeholder 
engagement and consultation. 
During 2016, IHSA used 
focus groups and surveys 
to determine the top 
three industry needs 
and identify what 
high-value services 
IHSA could 
provide to our 
transportation 
members. 
Along with an 
assessment of 
current industry 
trends, the 
valuable feedback 
we received is 
being used to create 
a recommendation 
plan that will be 
initiated in 2017.

Leveraging our connection with 
the Fleet Safety Council (FSC) and 
developing stronger relationships 
with the Ministry of Transportation 
(MTO) and Employment and 
Social Development Canada 
(ESDC) can help us better serve 
our transportation members 



2016 IHSA Annual Report  23ihsa.ca

To find out the health and safety needs of the 
transportation sector, IHSA engaged with more than 

130 members through focus groups and surveys 

IHSA wanted to clearly understand 
the needs of stakeholders—and 
develop a road map of what we 
can offer and how that can meet 
client’s needs and expectations.

 —Michelle Roberts, Manager, 
Regional Operations, Transportation

Services Strategy Lead

Consultation 
sessions and 

surveys to 
collect input

Review of 
the industry’s 

current service 
providers and 

offerings

Inventory 
of IHSA’s 

services and 
offerings

Review of 
industry trends, 
statistics, and 
performance-
related data

2016 Accomplishments

”
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IHSA’s membership is largely made up 
of small businesses, which are defined as 
companies with less than 
50 full-time equivalent 
(FTE) staff. In fact, 
96% of IHSA member 
firms have less than 
20 full-time employees 
and 86% have less 
than five (see chart 
below). Meeting the 
unique health and 
safety challenges 
faced by small 
businesses has 
always been a 
major focus 
for IHSA 
and is a key 
part of our 
Strategic 
Plan. 

Source: WSIB/EIW 2016 Snapshot current to March 2017

*Firms with 0 insurable earnings (e.g., independent operators) have been added to this category.

Small business  

115,073
86%

4,493
3%

884
1%

12,797
10%

Less Than 5 Workers*

5 to 19 Workers

20 to 99 Workers

More Than 100 Workers

In 2016, IHSA continued 
to support the WSIB’s 
Building Your Health and 
Safety Program (formerly 
known as SCIP), which 
helps small businesses 
develop an effective health 
and safety program
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Small Business Campaign
In 2016, IHSA developed a marketing campaign aimed at small 
business owners in the sectors served by IHSA. It started with 
a radio ad that aired for five weeks between March and April. 
This ad promoted IHSA’s Small Business web page and offered 
listeners a free copy of IHSA’s Safety Talks Manual (V005).

The radio spots were supported by print and online advertising 
through various trade and industry associations such as the 
Ontario General Contractors Association (OGCA), Council of 
Ontario Construction Associations (COCA), and Ontario Home 
Builders’ Association (OHBA).

IHSA’s radio ad promoted our Small 
Business web page and offered 

listeners a free copy of Safety Talks

“Not all small businesses are the same—
IHSA knows that this is especially true for 
construction, transportation, and utility 
companies. That’s why IHSA has developed 
occupational health and safety solutions 
specifically for you and your workers”

(excerpt from radio ad)
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The campaign was supported through 
our various social media outlets, driving 
followers to our Small Business web page 

ihsa.ca/smallbusiness web page

Ads appearing on the kijiji website 
targeted small businesses  

Part of the campaign 
involved placing print ads in 
various magazines and other 
periodicals

To follow up on the spring radio ad, 
IHSA ran ads on the kijiji website 
during the summer (June 15 to July 
15) and fall (September 26 to October 
31). These ads targeted certain 
geographic areas in Ontario and the 
following categories: home renovation 
services, skilled trades, cars and 
vehicles, automotive services, heavy 
equipment, and jobs in construction 
and trades. 
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results of the 2016 Small Business Campaign 
(March 28 to October 31, 2016)

Small 
Business 
web page

       4,235 unique   
    pageviews
 directly 
from kijiji

21,646 total 
pageviews                     
       to ihsa.ca/
      smallbusiness 

9,337
   total     
   pageviews    
     directly 
         from kijiji 

      8,452
         unique 
pageviews to

ihsa.ca/
smallbusiness 

Safety 
Talks 

Manual

12,092
   complete 
     Safety 
       talks 
      Manual    
    downloaded

157,681 individual safety 
talks downloaded

            7,053       
         printed     
       Safety 
    talks 
   Manual      
   ordered

During the campaign, 8,452 users  

 visited the ihsa.ca/smallbusiness  

 web page 21,646 times

Over 7,000 printed copies of the 

Safety Talks Manual were ordered 

and over 12,000 were downloaded
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David Dametto is one 
of the IHSA consultants 
who reached out to offer 
personalized service to 
one of our priority firms

We had to find more 

innovative and proactive 

ways to reach small 

businesses, which 

make up 96% of our 

membership

Priority Firm Initiative
Because of limited resources, small 
businesses face certain challenges 
when incorporating health and 
safety into their workplaces. They 
are also more likely to be involved in 
high-hazard work. These factors are 
reflected in a higher rate of injury and 
illness for small businesses.

Since 96% of IHSA member firms have 
less than 20 employees, we had to find 
more innovative and proactive ways to 
reach small businesses and help them 
develop safer workplaces.

In 2016, IHSA launched a Priority Firm 
Initiative designed to provide small 
businesses that were most in need 
of our services with more targeted 
one-on-one consultation. These were 
firms that had experienced at least 
two lost-time injuries related to high-
risk work activities (e.g., falls, struck-
bys, electrical contact) between 2015 
and 2016. Statistics show that once a 
company experiences one injury, they 
are more likely to experience another.

IHSA identified 100 priority firms and 
our health and safety consultants made 
numerous attempts to contact them 

and arrange for an introductory 
meeting. A total of 86 firms were 
successfully contacted in 2016. They 
included 24 transportation firms and 
62 construction firms. 

While the first year of this program 
had many positive outcomes, there 
were some lessons learned. IHSA will 
continue this program throughout 
2017 and into 2018 and expand upon 
the services we offered in 2016. For 
example, we plan on increasing our 
efforts to promote this program, 
provide these firms with more targeted 
products and resources, and allocate 
more time for our consultants to work 
with them.
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Training 
Scheduled

Review 
of IHSA 
Services

Introduction 
to COR™

Introduction 
to Building 
Your H&S 
Program 

Introduction 
to Safety 
Groups

Introduction 
to Labour-

Management 
Network

Site 
Inspections

Review of 
Health and 

Safety policy

Engagement 
with Priority 

Firms

In 2016, IHSA 

consultants 

initiated contact 

with 86 priority 

firms, which are 

firms that had 

experienced at 

least two lost-time 

injuries related 

to high-risk work 

activities between 

2015 and 2016

Successful 

engagements 

with priority 

firms included 

introducing 

them to IHSA’s 

services, 

evaluating 

their health 

and safety 

management 

systems, and 

performing site 

inspections 
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To meet our goal of targeting those of 
greatest need, IHSA must enhance our 
service delivery. We will do this by:
1. Promoting the safety culture
2. Extending our reach
3. Collaborating with system partners

We will explore new methods to reach 
those of greatest need since many of them 
are not currently engaged in Ontario’s 
health and safety system. 

For those who are engaged, we will 
encourage them to use their influence 
to establish a health and safety culture 
in their own organizations and serve as 
mentors for others. 

We must also look into developing 
partnerships with associations that are 
part of Ontario’s prevention system. 
Together we can help each other 
accomplish some of our shared goals.

Promoting the safety 
culture 
Creating a culture of health and safety is 
the cornerstone of any health and safety 
strategy. At IHSA, we rely on many of 
our industry networks, as well as social 
marketing and community outreach, to 
help us promote the safety message. 

By supporting the Labour-Management 
Network and the Fleet Safety Council, 
IHSA works toward 
sending a positive 
message to local 
communities and safety-
conscious associations. 
As well, IHSA programs 
like COR™ and Safety 
Groups will also 
contribute to fostering a 
health and safety culture 
throughout the province.

Certificate of Recognition 
(COR™) 
The Certificate of Recognition (COR™) 
is a nationally recognized accreditation 
program for a company’s health and 
safety management system (HSMS). It 
allows employers to demonstrate to 
buyers of services that their HSMS meets 
an established Canadian standard. IHSA 
has the exclusive authority to grant COR™ 
certification in Ontario.

Enhancing Service Delivery 

In 2016, a new COR™ flag was 
raised at IHSA’s Voyager Court 

Training Centre
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Many companies and municipalities 
that deal with large-scale infrastructure 
projects in Ontario now require firms 
to be registered in the COR™ program 
or be certified before they can bid on 
contracts. They include:
 
• Toronto Transit Commission (TTC)
• Greater Toronto Airport Authority 

(GTAA)
• Metrolinx
• Infrastructure Ontario 
• City of Toronto
• City of Brampton
• Town of Milton
 

*As of May 2017

181 firms 
certified 

since 
2012*86 firms 

certified in 
2016

1,022 
firms 

registered  
since 
2011*
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COr™ Open House/OGCA 
Leadership Day
The Ontario General Contractors 
Association (OGCA) has adopted 
COR™ and has been a vocal supporter 
of the program over the years. Since 
2014, IHSA and OGCA have co-
sponsored an annual Open House/
Leadership Day. The 2016 event 
held on February 19th was attended 
by 180 participants and included 
presentations from Rob Ellis of 
MySafeWork, the City of Toronto, 
Bruce Power, and UBC researcher 
Chris McCloud. 

The keynote address by the Minister of 
Labour, Kevin Flynn, was well-received 
as he gave his support for the COR™ 
program. At a subsequent OGCA 
event held in April 2016, George 
Gritziotis, Ontario’s Chief Prevention 
Officer (CPO), assured the audience 
that the Prevention Office is working 
on a provincial accreditation standard 
and that the COR™ program appears 
to align well with it.

Minister of Labour Kevin Flynn was keynote 
speaker at the 2016 CORTM Open House

Enzo Garritano (left) and CPO George Gritziotis 
(right) award representatives from Brookfield 

Multiplex Construction with their COR™ certification

Clearly COR™ is going to meet whatever 
accreditation is coming out of the 
government and they are very proud of 
the COR™ program.

— Clive Thurston, President,
Ontario General Contractors Association,

Daily Commercial News, April 22, 2016

”
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COr™ Workshop Program
Like many of IHSA’s initiatives, 
COR™ has been developed so 
that any company, regardless of 
their size or the type of work they 
do, can achieve success with the 
proper motivation, support, and 
commitment. Some of the firms 
that were registered in COR™ 
program were having difficulty 
achieving some of the required 
elements. So in 2016, we focused 
on developing more resources 
to help firms achieve COR™ 
certification.
 

One of these initiatives was the 
COR™ Workshop Program. With 
the assistance of the Building and 
Concrete Restoration Association 
of Ontario (B&CRAO) and the 
OGCA, IHSA conducted a pilot 
project in 2016. Six one-day 
workshops were held, one per 
month for six months. At the end of 
each workshop, the participants left 
with a clear action plan for the next 
few weeks and were expected to 
carry it out before returning for the 
next workshop.

IHSA instructor Lou Terpstra conducts a 
COR™ workshop in 2016

We recognize the effort 
companies are putting in to 
become COR™ certified, so we 
are bringing in more resources 
to help them succeed.

— Paul Casey, VP Programs and Strategic 
Development, IHSA

”
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COr™ Internal Auditor 
Conference
On February 17, 2016, IHSA 
held a COR™ Internal Auditor 
Conference at the Centre for 
Health and Safety Innovation 
(CHSI) in Mississauga. It provided 
an opportunity for those who 
have been designated as their 
firm’s internal auditor (IA) to 
come together and learn from 
each other. 

Breakout sessions were designed 
to help IAs become more familiar 
with the COR™ Audit Tool, get 
buy-in from upper management 
and from employees, and 
develop strategies for working 
through the elements of COR™ 
in preparation for the internal 
audit. Participants were also 
treated to testimonials from 
buyers of construction and a 
panel discussion with firms who 
had already achieved their COR™ 
certification.

Annual General Meeting
IHSA’s 2016 Annual General Meeting 
took place on September 30, 2016 
with 134 people attending. This year’s 
event focused on highlighting some 
of IHSA’s significant partnerships. 
Guest speakers included Bruce 
Cowtan, professor in Cambrian 
College’s Powerline Technician co-op 
diploma apprenticeship program, and 
Kathy Salandziak, Director of Safety 
and Operations with Messenger 
Freight in St. Thomas.

Over 120 people attended IHSA’s COR™ Internal 
Auditor Conference on February 17, 2016

Keynote speaker Kathy Salandziak from Messenger 
Freight (left) spoke about her efforts as the 

Chairperson of the Advisory Committee for IHSA’s 
Transportation Safety Group

90% of those who attended 
the 2016 Internal Auditor 
Conference said they would 
attend another one
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Along with the formal business meeting, 
the event provided the opportunity to 
hand over some well-deserved awards 
to individuals and firms that have made 
great strides in health and safety over 
the past year. A variety of awards and 
certificates were presented, including 15 
Transportation Achievement Awards, 13 
President’s Awards, 4 ZeroQuest™ 

 Awards, and 33 Certificates of 
Recognition (COR™). In addition, the 
Gil Samson Award was presented to 
the Occupational Disease and Research 
Labour-Management Health and 
Safety Committee for its significant 
contributions to the advancement of 
occupational health and safety.

A Transportation Achievement Award was presented 
to UPS Canada for maintaining a below-average 
injury frequency rate for three consecutive years

Representatives from Enersource receive 
a President’s Award for three million work 

hours without a lost-time injury

COR™ certification was presented to Bot 
Construction Group 

COR™ certification was presented to Milestone 
Environmental Contracting 
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The 2016 Gil Samson Award was presented 
to the Occupational Disease and Research 

Labour-Management Committee

A Member Appreciation Award was given to Tim 
Holdaway (right) from Midland Transport who retired 

from IHSA’s Board of Directors after five years

Safety Groups
Safety Groups is a program 
administered by the Workplace 
Safety and Insurance Board 
(WSIB). Companies become part 
of a Safety Group in order to share 
resources and experiences and to 
make improvements in workplace 
health and safety. Groups that are 
successful in reducing lost-time 
injury or severity rates may be 
rewarded by receiving a financial 
rebate on their WSIB contributions.

In 2016, IHSA sponsored two 
Safety Groups: Transportation 
Safety Group and Construction/
Electrical/Utility Safety Group. At 
the end of 2015, it was decided 
that the Construction Safety Group 
and the Electrical/Utility Safety 
Group should merge in order to 
reduce administration costs and 
limit redundancies in work. 

WSIB Chair Elizabeth Witmer (right) presents 
certificates of appreciation to IHSA’s Safety 

Groups coordinators, Dawn Vanags (left) and 
Ivan Rodriguez (centre)

In 2016, the Construction 
Safety Group and the 

Electrical/Utility Safety 
Group merged into one 
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transportation Safety Group
It was another successful year for the 
Transportation Safety Group with 135 
firms participating and a rebate of over 
$2 million received in 2016 for the results 
achieved in 2015. 

While the results for 2016 will not be 
known until late 2017, early indicators 
show that there will be considerable 
improvement from the previous year. As 
well, the coordinators have achieved 
impressive results with recent recruitment 
initiatives, which will ensure the 
continuing success of the program. 

Construction/electrical/utility Safety 
Group
It was a year of transition for this newly 
formed Safety Group but coordinators 
are encouraged by the progress made in 
2016. Almost 100 firms participated and 
a lot of the groundwork has been laid 
for its continuing success. The merger of 
this group saw its membership increase 
almost 40% in 2016 (from 69 in 2015 to 
96 in 2016). 

As well, the rebate amounts received in 
2016 for the results achieved in 2015 
when they were two separate 
groups had increased 
considerably over the 
previous year. The 
Construction Safety Group 
with 59 firms participating 
had an increased rebate 
of 16% (from $536,300 
to $620,034). Even more 
remarkably, the Electrical/
Utility Safety Group with 
only 10 firms participating had an 
increased rebate of 120% (from $70,590 
to $155.975). Based on these impressive 
results, there is every reason to believe 
that the outcomes for 2016 will continue 
this upward trend. 

Construction/
Electrical/

Utility Safety 
Group

Construction
$620,034 Rebate 

for 2015
59 Firms 

Participating

Electrical/Utility
$155,975 Rebate

for 2015
10 Firms 

Participating

$2,062,203 
Rebate
for 2015
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Fleet Safety Council 
In 2016, IHSA continued to support 

the 10 chapters of the provincial 
Fleet Safety Council (FSC). The FSC 

is an association of driver trainers 
and safety professionals who work to 

promote safety within the transportation, 
transport, bus, and coach industries.

Throughout the year, IHSA provides administrative 
staff to organize the regular chapter meetings and 
helps bring interesting and topical speakers to 
these networking events. In addition, we are a major 
sponsor of the FSC’s Annual Educational Conference.

At the FSC’s 25th Annual Educational Conference, 
nearly 200 delegates enjoyed a worthwhile day 
of information on a wide variety of topics from 
several outstanding speakers (pictured is IHSA 

instructor Rick Tilley)

Dr. Terry Flynn of McMaster University delivered 
an informative presentation on the new world 

of 24/7 media and its impact on individuals and 
organizations

Hernan Medina provided some great insight into 
driver behaviour modification with video safety 

technology

The IHSA 

have 

been 

longtime 

supporters 

and partners 

with the Fleet Safety 

Council Annual 

Educational Conference. 

The support we receive 

from the IHSA is one 

of the main reasons 

that the conference 

continues to grow and 

be a success year after 

year.
— Charlie Charalambous,
FSC Annual Educational 
Conference Chairperson 

”
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Labour-Management Network
Within Ontario’s Prevention System, IHSA’s Labour-
Management Network represents a truly unique 
approach to stakeholder engagement. The health 
and safety committees that make up this network 
include more than 800 volunteers from both labour 
and management. They represent different regions 
throughout Ontario and various trades and sectors. 
However, they all have one thing in common—a 
commitment to reducing workplace injuries, illnesses, 
and fatalities.

IHSA’s Labour-Management Network 
consists of the following:

•  Provincial Labour-Management Health 
and Safety Committee for Construction 
(PLMHSC)

•  Provincial Labour-Management Safety 
Committee for Electrical and Utilities 
(PLMSC)

•  Construction Legislative Review 
Committee (CLRC)

•  16 Regional Health and Safety Committees
•  26 Trade/Sector Health and Safety 

Committees

PLMHSC
Construction

PLMSC
Electrical Utilities

Trade/Sector
Committees CLRC

Regional
Committees

• Barrie
• Central Ontario
• Hamilton
• Kingston
• London
• Niagara
• North Bay
• Northwestern 

(Thunder Bay) 

• Oshawa
• Ottawa
• Sarnia
• Sault Ste. Marie
• Sudbury
• Timmins
• Toronto
• Windsor

• Acoustical Drywall
• Boilermakers
• Carpenters
• Civil Engineering
• CLAC (Christian Labour 

Association of Canada)
• Commercial Diving
• Concrete Floor
• Demolition
• Electrical (ECAO/IBEW)
• Elevator/Escalator
• High-rise Forming
• Insulators
• Ironworkers/ 

Rodworkers
• Masonry

• Millwrights
• Mining and Aggregates 

Working Group*
• Occupational Disease 

and Research
• Operating Engineers/

Hoisting
• Painters
• Pipe Trades
• Refrigeration
• Residential
• Roofers
• Service Sector
• Sheet Metal
• Sprinkler
• Tunnelling *Working Groups are not included in the number of trade/

sector committees
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The two provincial committees 
act as advisory committees to the 
Minister of Labour under section 
21 of the Occupational Health and 
Safety Act. The Regional, Trade/
Sector, and CLRC committees send 
recommendations to the provincial 
committees on changes to legislation 
and propose solutions to health and 
safety issues experienced in their 
region or trade.

In 2016, IHSA’s Labour-Management 
Network worked diligently to provide 
feedback and direction for the MOL’s 
Construction Health and Safety 
Action Plan (CHSAP). Members 
participated in consultation sessions 
and task groups throughout the 
year to help ensure that the CHSAP 
addressed the health and safety 
issues that are currently facing our 
industries. 

Labour-Management committees 
continued to recruit new members 
from their local communities to 
ensure that their industries and 
areas are well-represented. The 
Trade/Sector committees developed 
manuals, booklet, alerts, advisories, 

safe work guidelines, and best 
practice documents to 
address health and 
safety hazards. 
Meanwhile, 
the Regional 
committees 
focused on 
community 
outreach and events, 
getting the message 
of safety to those who 
can benefit from it the most. 

In 2016, the Labour-Management Network 
focused on getting health and safety 
information out to those who needed 
it the most. From school assemblies 
to community events, our volunteers 
developed and shared innovative health 

and safety prevention materials and were 
active in their communities with outreach to 
the public, workers, and employers.

Toronto Health and Safety Symposium
On June 16, 2016, more than 70 guests attended the 
Toronto Committee’s Health and Safety Symposium 
at IHSA’s Voyager Court Training Centre. Participants 
attended small group and interactive sessions on 
distracted driving, fall protection work plans, and 
techniques to help workplace parties succeed on the job. 
It was an information-packed day with Johanna LeRoux 
from Threads of Life delivering the keynote presentation 
and safety demonstrations being made by Honeywell and 
MSA–The Safety Company.

 —Dean Dunn, Manager,  
Labour-Management Network, IHSA

Participants enjoy the Fall Calculation and 
Drop Test session at the Toronto Committee’s 
2016 Symposium

regional committees focus on 
community outreach

”
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Fanshawe College Orientation 
On September 7, 2016, the London Committee and 
IHSA staff set up a booth at Fanshawe College during 
orientation week. The college has about 700 students 
taking part in programs that will prepare them to enter 
the construction workforce. It was an opportunity to 
introduce this new wave of construction industry leaders 
to the materials, training, and mandate of IHSA. The event 
was organized by the London and District Construction 
Association (LDCA) and is designed to get students 
thinking about safety before their training even begins.

Kingston Contractor Day
From July 25 to 27, 2016, members of the Kingston 
Labour-Management Committee set up a booth near the 
Contractor Desk at the Lowe’s home improvement store 
in Kingston. For three days, they handed out information 
and IHSA products, and they promoted IHSA’s training 
programs and the benefits of joining the Labour-
Management Network. They successfully recruited two 
new members for the regional committee and raffled off 
some of IHSA’s Supervisor Log Books (RF008).

Niagara Technology 
Skills Competition 
On March 9, 2016, the Niagara 
Committee set up a booth at 
the 13th Annual Technology 
Skills Competition to promote 
their Stop Think Educate 
and Prepare (STEP) program, 
which is designed to educate 
high school students on the 
importance of health and 
safety. The event is organized 
by the Niagara Catholic District 
School Board. Approximately 
275 students put their skills 
to the test in 23 different 
categories, including traditional 
construction trades, cabinet 
making, and electrical wiring.

IHSA and the London Committee brought the 
mobile classroom to Fanshawe College during 
orientation week

IHSA Instructor Jennifer Buxton (right) and 
members of the Kingston Committee set up a 
booth at Lowe’s hardware store

The Niagara Committee promoted their STEP 
program to approximately 400 participants at 
the 2016 Technology Skills Competition
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Ottawa Mock Trial
Bringing together prosecution, defense, witnesses, and others, the Ottawa 
Committee organized a mock trial on October 13, 2016, at Ben Franklin Place in 
Ottawa. Approximately 210 people attended the event, which was designed to help 
workers and employers understand their legal responsibilities regarding occupational 
health and safety. It focused on a fictional employer charged under the OHSA due 
to the death of a worker from a fall. Representatives from the MOL, IHSA, WSPS and 
City of Ottawa were available to answer questions and provide information to assist 
employers and workers stay safe, healthy, and compliant at work.

Sarnia Emergency Preparedness Day
Sarnia-Lambton’s Emergency Preparedness Day aims to show residents that they are 
well-positioned in the event of an emergency. The annual event was held on May 6, 
2016, with approximately 1,500 participants in attendance. The Sarnia Committee set 
up an IHSA booth at the event and provided health and safety information for young 
workers. They held an interactive “Spot the Hazards” game for the students with the 
ultimate goal of promoting a positive safety culture to youth. 

The Ottawa Committee donated the money raised from the event to 
Threads of Life (pictured second from right is IHSA Instructor Paul Cyr)

Students line up to participate in an interactive “Spot 
the Hazards” game at the Sarnia Committee’s booth
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Concrete Floor Committee
Members of the committee have 
been working with IHSA to create 
the first health and safety manual 
for their sector. Their efforts were 
finally rewarded in 2016 with 
the publication of the Concrete 
Finishers Health and Safety Manual 
(M073) At 94 pages, it contains 
the information concrete finishers 
need to protect themselves from 
the hazards they face in the 
workplace.

ECAO/IBEW Electrical 
Committee
Members of the committee 
have been working with IHSA to 
update their safety manual, which 
was first published in 1983. The 
2016 version of this pocket-sized 
manual is 164 pages and is the 
11th revised edition. It is a useful 
tool that electrical workers can 
use to help keep safety in mind when 
planning work. They also developed an 
MSD hazard profile for their ICI sector: 
Musculoskeletal Hazards and Controls: ICI 
Electricians (W328).

Masonry and Allied Trades 
Committee
With the assistance of OHCOW, 
the committee worked with IHSA 
on a guideline for workers in their 
trade. At 42 pages, this pocket-
sized booklet is chock full of 
information on common hazards, 
preventing those hazards, and 
rights and responsibilities.

trade and sector committees develop tools and resources

Health and Safety Guide: Masonry, Tile, 
Terrazzo, and Allied Trades (B013)

Electrical 
Construction 
and Maintenance 
Workers’ Safety 
Manual (M010)

Members of the Labour-Management 
Network continued to demonstrate their 
commitment to health and safety through 
their participation and consultation in 
regulatory enhancements in an effort to 
make Ontario workplaces the healthiest 
and safest in North America
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Niagara Committee
The committee worked 
with IHSA to develop 
a brochure to prevent 
accidental contact with 
underground utilities. 
The brochure helps 
people understand 
their responsibilities 
and where to go for 
assistance to locate 
underground services.

This Health and Safety Advisory 
was a joint effort between IHSA and 
several construction committees. 
It was developed to help those 
working at heights, and especially 
on a leading edge, protect their 
lanyard and lifeline from damage.

Call Before You Dig (IHSA051)

Health and Safety Advisory: Failure of 
Lanyards and Lifelines When Working on a 
Leading Edge (W253)

Failure of Lanyards and Lifelines When 
Working on a Leading Edge

HEALTH AND SAFETY ADVISORY

5110 Creekbank Road, Suite 400, Mississauga, ON, L4W 0A1 Canada                       Page 1 of 2                                               W253

T 1 800 263 5024   T 905 625 0100   F 905 625 8998  www.ihsa.ca 

The best way to prevent a fall is to eliminate the fall 

hazard. Follow the hierarchy of controls for any hazard 

on a site:
1. Eliminate the hazard2. Control the hazard at the source
3. Control the hazard along the path
4. Control the hazard at the worker.A fall hazard may be eliminated or controlled at the 

source or along the path by:• Relocating the work to a safer location 
• Delaying the work until permanent safety features 

are installed (walls, railings, etc.)
• Putting up guardrails • Covering roof and floor openings
• Working from an elevating work platform (EWP)If these controls are not practicable for leading edge 

work, the fall hazard must be controlled at the worker 

by using a personal fall protection system.

When working at heights, workers often rely 
on fall protection equipment to keep them 
safe. However, when working on a leading 
edge or around sharp work surfaces, the 
lifeline or lanyard—including a self-retracting 
lanyard or lifeline (SRL)—can become 
frayed or cut as it rubs against the edge. 
This damage can weaken the equipment to 
the point where, if a worker fell, the force 
of arresting the fall would likely cause the 
lanyard, lifeline, or SRL to fail.
Because of recent incidents where this has 
happened, standards organizations such as 
CSA and ANSI have recognized that working 
on a leading edge presents unique hazards 
that require extra precautions as well as 
specialized fall protection equipment.  
Fall protection systems A leading edge is the unprotected end of 
formwork, floors, roofs, decks, or other 
walking or working surfaces. An unprotected 
edge is a significant fall hazard. 
If it is not practicable to install a guardrail 
system, a worker who may be exposed to a 
fall of more than 3 metres (10 feet) off the 
ground MUST use a fall protection system 
and be trained in its use. IT’S THE LAW!Workers must be “adequately protected 

by the highest ranked method that is 
practicable” (O. Reg. 213/91, s.26.1(2)). These 
methods of fall protection are ranked as 
follows:
1. A travel restraint system2. A fall restricting system3. A fall arrest system4. A safety net

A travel restraint system prevents a worker 
from falling over the edge, so it is preferred 
over a fall restricting system, which limits a 
worker’s fall, or a fall arrest system, which 
“arrests” (stops) a fall before the worker hits 
the ground or an object below.

Pipe Trades Committee
The committee worked with 
IHSA to develop an MSD hazard 
profile for their sector. This 10-
page guideline can help workers 
identify musculoskeletal hazards 
in their job and learn how to 
control them. 

Musculoskeletal hazards and controls

Musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs), such as chronic back pain or shoulder problems, often take time to 

develop. Forceful exertion, awkward positions, hand-arm and whole-body vibration, contact stress, and 

repetitive tasks can add up over time to produce an MSD.
This profile can help you identify and control MSD hazards in your job. We recommend that you add the 

best practices outlined here to your company’s health and safety program. The hazards in a particular job, 

however, may be different than the ones on this profile, so evaluate the risks of your specific work activities.

When implementing MSD controls, consider the following ergonomic principles:

1.  Use handling equipment and proper lifting and handling techniques. The best way to prevent an MSD 

is to eliminate or reduce the frequency of lifting, carrying, pushing, and pulling. Use material-handling 

equipment such as carts, dollies, pallet jacks, or lift trucks. For proper lifting techniques, refer to the 

“Back Care” chapter in IHSA’s Construction Health and Safety Manual (M029).

2. Don’t lift a load from the floor. Lifting from the floor or from below standing knuckle height can put 

severe stress on your back and reduce your lifting ability. To avoid this, store objects above standing 

knuckle level and below standing shoulder level.
3. Avoid working on the floor. Constantly working on the floor can result in injuries to your back, hips, 

and knees because you usually have to kneel and bend forward. When possible, raise the work height 

by using a workbench.
4. Avoid working above shoulder level. High lifting or constantly reaching above your shoulders can be 

harmful. Most of the work is being done by the smaller muscles in your shoulders and arms instead 

of by the larger muscles in your back and legs. When your arms are raised, the muscles fatigue more 

quickly because there is less blood flow and there is a greater chance you could drop the object.

5. Get help with large loads or split them into smaller loads. Get help from a co-worker if a load is too 

heavy for you to handle on your own. If possible, divide the load into smaller loads. Making more trips 

with small loads puts less stress on your back than making fewer trips with large loads.

6. Reduce vibration exposure. Vibration from hand-held power tools (hammer drills, angle grinders, 

chipping guns, jackhammers, etc.) can move to workers’ hands and arms. Repeated exposure to 

moderate- and high-intensity hand-arm vibration can cause permanent health problems. 

7. Perform stretching and warm-up exercises before starting work. This not only helps prevent MSDs but 

also promotes general good health. See IHSA’s Before You Start Work Exercises Card (V012).1

INDUSTRIAL, COMMERCIAL,INSTITUTIONAL: PIPE TRADES (PLUMBERS/STEAMFITTERS)
Photocopy this profile and distribute it as widely as possible!

W327

Musculoskeletal Hazards and 
Controls: ICI Pipe Trades (Plumbers/
Steamfitters) (W327)

Labour-Management 
Committees continue to recruit 
new members to ensure their 
regions, trades, and sectors are 
well-represented 
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National Construction Safety 
Officer (NCSO) 
IHSA’s Construction Health and 
Safety Officer (CHSO) certificate 
has long been a standard in Ontario 
construction. It was designed 
to recognize those who have 
construction knowledge and practical 
experience in a range of health and 
safety topics.

In 2016, IHSA began transitioning its provincial 
CHSO program to meet the requirements of the 
National Construction Safety Officer (NCSO) 
program. A cross-departmental committee was 
created to build the program and put together 
an administration package.

Achieving NCSO certification demonstrates 
that a person’s skill level, education, and work 
effort meets the requirements of a national 
standard. It will ensure that today’s construction 
supervisors demonstrate proficiency in the 
occupational health and safety environment 
of Canada’s construction industry. As of March 
31, 2017, more than 51 external participants and 
22 IHSA staff members and consultants have 
successfully met the training requirements and 
passed both provincial and national exams to 
become Ontario’s first NCSOs.

Note: After September 1, 2017, IHSA will no longer 
recognize the former CHSO designation. 

The NCSO 
committee 
developed an 
advertising 
postcard, a 
reference 
guide, and an 
information page 
on the website

A full-time IHSA 
staff member, 
Marie Henry, has 
been dedicated 
to NCSO 
administration
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IHSA.ca Magazine
IHSA.ca Magazine is published every three or four 

months and is available at no charge to our members 

by subscription. In each issue, members receive 

valuable health and safety information such as injury 

prevention tips and enforcement blitz announcements. 

Back issues are also available to order or download 

from our website. At the close of 2016, more than 11,000 

regular subscribers received the magazine and the 

online articles were accessed more than 12,400 times. 

To receive your free copy, visit ihsa.ca/magazine and 

fill out the subscription form.

Heat stress and traffic control were the 
most downloaded articles in 2016
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Day of Mourning
Even though we continue to introduce new tools and 

resources and bring more awareness to the issue of 

worker safety, there are those who do not return home 

to their families at the end of the day due to preventable 

workplace injuries and fatalities. Each year on April 28, 

IHSA and its partners in Ontario’s prevention system 

commemorate the Day of Mourning. It’s a day to honour 

the millions of Ontario workers who have lost their lives, 

became ill, or were injured at work.

In 2016, IHSA created a splash page on its website to 

recognize the Day of Mourning. It was viewed each time 

someone came to ihsa.ca on April 27 and April 28. This 

amounted to 3,306 visitors. The page included a recorded 

message from Enzo Garritano, President and CEO.

We encourage you to mark this day in a significant 
way—to think about those whom we have lost 
and those whose lives continue to be affected by 
workplace injuries. But also to make some lasting 
changes at your workplace to help ensure it does 
not happen again.

Splash page on the IHSA.ca website for the Day of Mourning

Remember, those we’ve lost

”

“

—Enzo Garritano, President and CEO, IHSA 
(excerpt from Day of Mourning message)
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Extending our 
reach  
IHSA is focusing on extending 
our reach by finding new and 
innovative ways to engage with 
our stakeholders. We developed 
strategic marketing and creative 
advertising campaigns to bring 
the safety message to those who 
have not engaged with us before. 
We contacted firms that recently 
registered with the WSIB to 
explain the services that these 
new members are now eligible to 
receive from us. As well, we used 
our social media channels and 
website to provide our members 
with helpful information and 
resources. 

Keep Your Promise 
Campaign 
At the end of March 2016, IHSA 
launched its Keep Your Promise 
awareness campaign with a 
series of four ads in TTC buses 

and subways and in community 
ice arenas around the province. 
The ads in TTC vehicles ran 
from April 4 until December 
31, 2016. The arena ads, which 
were displayed on rink boards, 
also remained in place until the 
end of the year. This advertising 
campaign was supported by 
social media, specifically Twitter 
and LinkedIn.  

The main message of the 
campaign was to be aware about 
health and safety while at work so 
that you can return home safe at 
the end of the day. The purpose 
of this campaign was to raise 
awareness of both occupational 
health and safety and IHSA 
among the general public. One 
of the goals was to bring people 
to our website who may not have 
visited in the past. Highly public 
venues were chosen in order to 
achieve this goal. 

Keep Your 
Promise

Campaign

249,261
Visitors to 

ihsa.ca 
Website**

427,333 
Sessions at 

ihsa.ca 
Website

30%
Increase in 

Website 
Visitors†

31% 
Increase in 

Website 
Sessions†

*During the period of the KYP Campaign (April 4 to December 31, 2016)
†Over the same time period in 2015
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Home Depot Campaign
During the summer of 2016, 
IHSA set up a booth at 
several Home Depot locations 
throughout the Greater Toronto 
Area. It was part of an initiative 
to connect with contractors, 
specifically those working for 
smaller companies. We wanted 
to ensure that they were aware 
of their health and safety 
responsibilities under Ontario 
legislation and of the services 
available through their IHSA 
membership. 

IHSA’s display was staffed by 
two students and provided 
information on the association 
and the products and training 
we provide. As part of this effort, 
contractors who wished to 
receive additional information 
could fill out a contact form to 
receive IHSA’s magazine, emails, 
and a free safety kit containing 
safety manuals and posters. 

The four ads in the 2016 Keep 
Your Promise Campaign were also 

made into posters and stickers 

In 2016, IHSA staffed a booth at six 
Home Depot locations in the GTA

Almost 90% of the 
contractors we interacted 
with during this campaign 
represented firms with 
fewer than 20 employees
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New Firms Campaign
Although IHSA connects with firms 
through training courses, event displays, 
product sales, and many other ways, we 
continue to seek a more effective level of 
engagement with our membership. Ideally, 

this relationship begins as soon 
as firms become IHSA members 
by registering with the WSIB.

In the ever-changing 
world of infrastructure-
based industries, new 
companies are joining 
the ranks of IHSA 
member firms each 
month. In 2016, IHSA 
began a regular effort 
to engage with those 
firms from the start to 
make sure they were 
aware of the many 
products, services, 
and types of support 
IHSA can offer to 
them. To that end, we 
mailed information 
packages to each 
newly registered firm. 

Social media channels
In this age of instant communication, 
customers increasingly turn to social 
media to talk to businesses and get 
recommendations on products and 
services from their peers. They seek 
knowledge in new and interesting ways 
beyond the traditional information 
vehicles. 

In an effort to build on this, IHSA has 
been actively engaged in various 
social media channels since 2012. Our 
presence on LinkedIn and Twitter have 
grown considerably over the years and 
subscriptions to our monthly newsletter, 
2-Minute News, continues to increase. 

These outlets have afforded IHSA an 
opportunity to connect with member 
companies, workers, supervisors, safety 
professionals, associations, trade unions, 
and others across Ontario, throughout 
Canada, and around the world. 

In 2016, IHSA placed special focus on its 
Keep Your Promise and Small Business 
campaigns, using social media to direct 

readers to the ihsa.ca website. As 
well, we promoted events such as the 
Day of Mourning, the Electrical Safety 
Association’s Powerline Safety effort, 
and the Commercial Vehicle Safety 
Association’s International Road Check. 

On the next page are some of the most 
popular links that people connected 
to through our various social media 
platforms in 2016.

In 2016, IHSA 
increased the 
number of
followers and 
subscribers to 
2-Minute
News, Twitter, 
and LinkedIn
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Tweet Clicks
1. Traffic control— 

Temporary Work Zones course 
535

2. Small business – free Safety  
Talk Manual (V005) 

470

3. Free Product Downloads  
(ihsa.ca website)  

354

4. COR™ Resources  345
5. IHSA Job Posting 312

2-Minute news Article Clicks
1. Training Requirements Chart (W001) 3,733
2. MOL Health and Safety Checklist 1,330
3. Safety Talk: Mobile Devices on  

Worksites 
876

4. Alert on elevating work platforms 693
5. Changes to regulations coming in July  585

3,795 Total 
Followers

672 New 
Followers in 

2016

8,096 Total 
Subscribers

1,097 New 
Subscribers 

in 2016

3,179 Total 
Followers

33 New Followers 
in 2016

Post 
1. Heat Stroke Prevention 
2. Supervisor Log Book (RF008) 
3. Traffic Control Guidelines (M019) 
4. Heat Stress Poster (IHSA013) 
5. IHSA Job Posting 

Top Five Social Media Postings in 2016
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Website 
IHSA is proud 
to offer its 
members a 
resource-
rich website 
that features 
many free 
downloadable 
resources, 
such as safety 
advisories, site 
posters, articles, 
policy and 
program templates, 
and so much more. 

The website offers 
more than 300 
products to order—
stickers, posters, 
safety guides, 
manuals, and DVDs—and more than 
150 training programs for registration. 
E-learning is also available through the 
website with 18 certificate and non-
certificate online courses. 

Almost 64,000 
more users 
visited ihsa.ca in 
2016 than in the 
previous year

The e-learning 
section of  
ihsa.ca offers 18 
online courses

Web Pages

Web Page Page Views

1. WHMIS Review 427,358

2. Search 276,403

3. Training 170,643

4. Training: Full Course List 150,246

5. Safety Talks 135,428

6. Products 81,878

7. COR™ 77,732

8. WHMIS Review: Hazard  
Symbols 63,523

9. Safe Work Practices and  
Job Procedures 57,673

10. Construction Health and  
Safety Manual 51,749
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Downloads

IHSA
Website

323,184 
Users

11 Pages 
Viewed per 

Session

350,400 
Downloads 

6,178,345 
Pageviews 

25% 
increase 

from 2015

81% 
increase 

from 2015

File Name Downloads

1.  Safety Talks Manual (V005) 12,092 

2. Safety Talk: Job Safety Analysis 7,072

3. Safety Talk: Eye Protection 5,412

4. Safety Talk: Housekeeping 4,603

5. Safety Talk: Responsibilities 4,017

6. Safety Talk: Hand Protection 3,537

7. Safety Talks Report Form 3,387

8. Construction Health and Safety  
Manual: Legal Responsibilities 3,297

9. Safety Talk: Electrical Safety 3,223

10. Safety Talk: Mobile Devices on  
Worksites 

3,155

IHSA Website Activity in 2016
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YouTube channel
IHSA’s YouTube channel continues to bring 
content that’s of interest to IHSA members. 
Our overall viewership quadrupled in 
2016, from just over 2,000 views in 2015 
to 10,000 views in 2016. Among the 
most popular videos in 2016 were those 
covering the WHMIS 2015 update, Working 
at Heights training and evaluation, and 
IHSA’s collaborative effort in the Line Crew 
Ground Support program at Cambrian 
College. 

IHSA has been increasing its use of 
communication tools like YouTube to 
grow its audience and to share important 
occupational health and safety information. 
As we continue to expand upon our video 
content, our YouTube channel will continue 
to pique the interest of our viewers and 
raise awareness on topics that are relevant 
to our membership. Subscribe to IHSA’s 
YouTube page for access to these and 
more videos in the future.

Videos on IHSA’s 
YouTube Channel

Video Views

1. WHMIS 2015 1,141

2. Line Crew Ground Support  
program 742

3. WAH Hands-On Evaluation  
Tutorial 630

4. Skills Ontario 2015 (OTSC) 614

5. WAH Elements 462

6. WAH Expectations 453

7. Skills Ontario 2016 330

8. Federal Health & Safety  
Committee Effectiveness 194

9. Powerline Technician Training  
Program 141

10. Mental Health in the Workplace 63
Visitors to our YouTube 
channel watched over 
20,000 minutes of 
footage in 2016
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Collaborating with 
system partners 
It takes a network of like-minded 
peer associations, government 
bodies, and other groups to 
make sure that the message 
of safety is widely distributed. 
IHSA collaborates with our 
system partners by participating 
in events such as Partners in 
Prevention and Steps for Life, by 
working closely with government 
agencies and influential employer 
groups such as ESDC, MTO, MOL, 
and the Prevention Office, and by 
improving communication with 
our health and safety partners. 

Partners in Prevention  
IHSA has taken part in Canada’s 
largest health and safety event 
for many years. Hosted by 
one of our sister associations, 
Workplace Safety and Prevention 
Services (WSPS), the event 
brings together more than 4,500 

health and safety professionals 
for networking, education, and 
knowledge exchange. It is home 
to a large tradeshow featuring 
health and safety-related 
products and services. 

In 2016, IHSA not only provided 
a tradeshow booth and several 
speakers, but also help set up the 
first Distracted Driving pavilion at 
the event. 

This interactive display was a 
joint project with the Ministry of 
Transportation (MTO) and the 
Ontario Provincial Police (OPP). 
Featuring a 400-foot driving 
course, complete with golf carts, 
it allowed participants to see 
how easily a driver can become 
distracted when attempting to 
focus on conversations, electronic 
devices, and passengers rather 
than the road.

IHSA worked with the MTO and OPP to set up a Distracted Driving 
Pavilion at the 2016 Partners in Prevention Conference

IHSA was a sponsor and an exhibitor 
at the 2016 CUEE tradeshow held at 
The International Centre in Mississauga 
(pictured are Grace Belcredi-Furlong 
and Sean Hooper)

CUEE Tradeshow 
For over ten years, IHSA has been 
part of the Canadian Utilities 
Equipment & Engineering Show 
(CUEE), both as a sponsor and an 
exhibitor. The CUEE is Canada’s 
largest utility tradeshow and 
marketplace, featuring an impressive 
display of equipment, technologies, 
products, and services. This two-day 
event is held every two years. 
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Steps for Life 
Steps for Life is a 5 km walk to 
support families that have been 
affected by workplace tragedy. 
Created in 2004, Steps for Life 
is the flagship fundraiser for the 
Association for Workplace Tragedy 
Family Support (known as Threads 
of Life). 

For the third consecutive year, 
IHSA was a Champion Community 
Sponsor for the Toronto Steps for 
Life walk, which took place on April 
30 at Coronation Park. Almost 200 

people came out to participate 
and remember those who lost their 
lives or became critically injured 
while working. Across 
Canada, close to 
5,000 participants 
raised more than 
$600,000 in 
2016.

Minister of Labour, Kevin Flynn, and IHSA President and 
CEO, Enzo Garritano, helped to launch the 2016 Steps 
for Life event in Toronto 

Team IHSA helped raise 
$31,000 at the Toronto walk
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ESDC Open House 
While the majority of IHSA member firms operate under 
provincial legislation, many of our transportation firms are 
federally regulated. For the fifth straight year, IHSA teamed 
up with experts from Employment and Social Development 
Canada (ESDC) to host the ESDC Labour Program’s Open 
House. Other associations who participated included MTO, 
WSPS, Occupational Health Clinics for Ontario Workers 
(OHCOW), and Canadian Centre for Occupational Health 
and Safety (CCOHS).

Well over 200 people attended the event held on May 5, 
2016, at the Centre for Health and Safety Innovation (CHSI). 
Registration for the event closed weeks in advance due 
to its popularity. Representatives from federally regulated 
firms from across Ontario—and a few from Quebec and 
British Columbia—attended sessions on topics such as: 

• Canada Labour Code
• WHMIS 2015
• Commercial Vehicle and Compliance
• Unjust Dismissal and Progressive Discipline
• Employee Employer Relationships
• Employer Due Diligence
• Federal Health and  

Safety Committee  
Effectiveness

• Hazard Prevention  
Programs

IHSA 
partnered 
with ESDC 
for the 5th 
Annual 
Federal 
Labour 
Program’s 
Open House 
(pictured 
are IHSA 
Instructors 
Ivan 
Rodriguez (l) 
and Melanie 
Whittier (r))

Session topics 
included 
Measuring 
Workplace 
Stress and 
Preventing 
Workplace 
Violence
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Communications Forum   
Efforts to coordinate social 
marketing campaigns and 
communications across the broad 
spectrum of government and 
safety partners have been greatly 
improved in the past few years. 
The Health and Safety Partners 
Communications Forum brings 
together communications staff 
and executives from the four 
health and safety associations 
(IHSA, WSPS, PSHSA, and WSN) 
as well as partner associations 
such as the MOL, WSIB, OHCOW, 
Institute for Work and Health 
(IWH), and Workers Health & 
Safety Centre (WHSC). Through 
their efforts, they hope to create a 
better understanding of the larger 

communication 
needs across 
Ontario in terms of 
health and safety.

The group holds regular meetings 
to schedule information 
campaigns that are aligned with 
prevention system priorities. 
They have worked with 
system partner technical 
staff on campaigns to 
promote such issues 
as musculoskeletal 
disorder (MSD) hazard 
prevention, working at 
heights information, and 
hearing safety. Using 
the same logos and 
hashtags—#stopfalls and 
#workshouldnthurt—all 
partner associations 
promoted events, 
information, products, 
and other materials to 
support the campaigns. 

IHSA

PSHSA MOL

WSIB

IWH

WSPS

WHSC

WSN

OHCOW

Health and 
Safety Partners 

Communications 
Forum

IHSA and the Masonry Labour-Management Committee 
worked with OHCOW to create the Health and Safety Guide: 
Masonry, Tile, Terrazzo, and Allied Trades (B013)
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Through the Health and Safety Partners 
Communications Forum we were better 
able to coordinate our communication 
campaigns and ensure they were aligned 
with prevention system priorities. In 
addition to conveying the message, 
however, there were joint projects that 
brought together subject matter experts 
from the health and safety partners to 
create the content for the campaigns. 
These endeavours were usually initiated 
by the Ministry of Labour (MOL) or 
the Prevention Office as a means of 
accomplishing many of the goals set out in 
their Healthy and Safe Ontario Workplaces 
strategy. In 2016, IHSA worked with many 
of our health and safety partners on the 
following projects.

Occupational Disease Action Plan (ODAP)
In 2016, several working groups were 
formed under the Occupational Disease 
Action Plan (ODAP) to work on the 
following issues:
• Noise
• Diesel exhaust

• Irritants and allergens
• Electronic Medical Records
• Intelligence and decision support.
 
Members of these working groups come 
from the health and safety partner 
associations as well as the Centre for 
Research Expertise in Occupational 
Disease (CRE-OD), the Ontario Cancer 
Research Centre, and the Ontario Lung 
Association. 

There are several activities planned as part 
of the overall ODAP. In 2016, the groups 
focused on developing and implementing 
a communications and marketing plan 
focusing on raising awareness of harm and 
prevention with respect to 
the priority exposures 
(noise, allergens and 
irritants, and diesel 
exhaust), with an 
underlying theme of 
general occupational 
disease prevention. 

Alignment with MOL and Prevention Office    

In 2016, the Noise Working Group, which is chaired by 
IHSA, developed a wordmark/logo that would be used on 
information and promotional material
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Falls Action Plan 
Members of the Falls Working 
Group represent IHSA, MOL, 
WSIB, WSN, OHCOW, PSHSA, and 
WSPS. There are several activities 
planned for this group. Those 
being led by IHSA are: 
• Partnering with home 

improvement stores to provide 
awareness materials to 
contractors and homeowners 
(see Home Depot campaign on 
page 49)

• Engaging in outreach to ethno-
cultural groups to drive the 
offering of WAH training and 
resources (see WAH in other 
languages and translated 
webpages on page 10)

• Developing a dedicated web 
page filled with fall protection 
resources for workplaces who 
received an order from the 
MOL during their 2016 blitz on 
falls in construction. 

W207

Energy absorber

When you are using fall arrest equipment, use a lanyard with 

an energy absorber (commonly called a shock absorber). It 

will absorb some of the energy exerted on your body while 

your fall is being stopped. This could save your life.

• Make sure one end of the energy absorber is connected 

to the D-ring on the full-body harness. The other end 

will connect to the rope grab.

• In most cases, the energy-absorbing component is 

enclosed in a snug-fitting jacket to protect it from 

damage. Check the cover jacket for stress or tearing 

before each use. 

• Many energy absorbers have a tag on the jacket that 

tears if the unit has been exposed to a shock load. Make 

sure this tag is intact.
Lifeline (Rope)

• Inspect your lifeline before each use (e.g., check if rope 

is cut, burnt, or frayed).

• A vertical lifeline must reach the ground or have a 

positive stop at the end to prevent the rope grab from 

running off the end of the lifeline.

• Vertical lifelines are usually made of synthetic rope that is 16-mm (5/8-in) in diameter or larger. The 

photo on the left shows a three-strand twisted rope made from a polypropylene/polyethylene blend. The 

different-coloured strands indicate that this rope is approved as a lifeline.

• The photo on the right is a polypropylene utility rope. This is not approved as a lifeline.

Rope grab
A rope grab is used to connect a lanyard to a lifeline. A rope 

grab will move smoothly and easily up and down the lifeline, 

but it will lock if a sharp tug or pull is applied. It will remain 

locked on the lifeline until the person is rescued. 

• Inspect all connecting components before each use (e.g., 

check for rust or distortion).

• Each rope grab is designed and manufactured for use 

with a specific diameter (size) and type of lifeline. Make 

sure that the rope grab and lifeline are compatible. 

Specifications are usually listed on the housing or in the manufacturer’s instructions.

• When attaching a rope grab to a lifeline, always make sure the arrow that is marked on the side or top of 

the rope grab is pointed toward your anchor (i.e., up).

Regardless of the safety methods you use, remember:

Protect yourself from a fall at all times when on the roof.

5

Visit ihsa.ca/
roofingsafety

W207

Fall protection equipment

Always inspect your equipment before each use 

(every morning before starting work). If any part is 

damaged, remove it from service and use another one.

Harness• Inspect your harness before each use (e.g., check buckles and 

webbing).
• Adjust the chest strap so that it is snug and located near the 

middle of your chest. If you fall, a properly adjusted chest strap 

will prevent you from coming out of the harness.

• Adjust the leg straps so that your fist can fit snugly between 

the strap and your leg.
• Adjust the shoulder straps so that the back D-ring rests 

between your shoulder blades. A properly positioned D-ring 

will keep you upright after a fall.

LanyardA lanyard connects your harness to the lifeline and 

rope grab. 
• Inspect your lanyard before each use (e.g., 

check if webbing is cut or frayed).

• Use manufactured (i.e., store-bought) lanyards 

only. 
• Try to keep the length of your lanyard as short 

as you can while making sure you are still able 

to work. This will reduce the likelihood that you 

will fall over the edge or fall too far.

Make sure D-ring is between 

your shoulder blades!

4

W207

Working on a sloped roof is one of the most dangerous jobs in 
construction. Just a small slip or loss of balance can lead to a life-
altering injury or even death.

Whenever you are exposed to a fall of more than 3 metres (10 feet)  
off the ground, you must be protected by a fall protection system  
and you must be trained how to use it properly.

Training
In Ontario, sloped roofers must have training to work 
at heights. If you received your training before  April 1, 2015, you have until April 1, 2017 to complete a 

working at heights training program that has been approved 
by the Ministry of Labour (MOL). However, it is highly 
recommended that you take the new training before then. An approved course will include information on hazard 
recognition and safe work procedures as well as a practical 
component showing how to use fall protection equipment.To find an approved WAH training course and provider in your 
area, follow this link:  www.labour.gov.on.ca/english/hs/wah_providers.php 

Safe work proceduresStep 1: Wearing the proper equipmentThe type of proper equipment for working on a sloped roof 
generally includes 
1. A CSA-approved full-body harness connected to a lanyard 2. A CSA-approved lanyard connected to a rope grab3. A CSA-approved rope grab connected to a lifeline4. A CSA-approved lifeline connected to an anchor point. 

For more information about proper equipment, go to the  
Fall protection equipment section at the end of this document.

Fall Protection on Sloped Roofs

1

IHSA worked with the MOL on their sloped roofing initiative, which 
included developing a web page and best practices document
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Small Business Action Plan  
Members of this working group 
come from all the health and 
safety partner associations. In 
2016, the group developed a 
small business “lens”, which  was 
a tool for system partners to use 
when developing new products 
and services, conducting 
research, setting strategic 
objectives, etc. It’s designed to 
prompt users to incorporate the 
needs of small business early in 
the process.  

This group also formed a Health 
and Safety Representative 
Standard Development 
Committee. Meetings started in 
late 2016 in order to determine 
the framework of the standard 
and how this would impact the 
training programs that may be 
developed as a result.

The Small Business Working Group developed a 
Small Business Lens booklet for internal use by 
health and safety partners

        

Mental Health Action Plan   
Members of this working group included 
representatives from IHSA, MOL, WSPS, 
PSHSA, OHCOW, and WSN. In 2016, the 
group identified three key outcomes that the 
group would like to see realized: 
1. Develop a common understanding of 

workplace mental health across the 
system

2. Build system capacity and competency
3. Increase awareness and use of existing 

resources.

As part of IHSA’s commitment to this project, 
our Health and Safety Policy statement 
was revised to include mental well-being as 
part of our association’s health and safety 
responsibilities to all staff. In addition, a 
Mental Health – Psychosocial Survey was 
sent to all staff in early 2016. 

I am pleased with the efforts made to date and I am positive 
that collectively, we can continue to strengthen our workplace 
and improve our mental well-being.

—Enzo Garritano, President and CEO, IHSA”
“
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IHSA is the leading health and safety 
training association for high-hazard work 
activities in Ontario. As new training 
standards and regulation changes 
are introduced in Ontario, IHSA must 
continue to develop new training courses 
and ensure our current offerings are 
up-to-date. We must continuously and 
consistently evaluate the quality of both 
the content and the delivery of our 
programs. In addition, we must look at 
ways to make it easier for our members 
to access our training. 

We are committed to finding ways to 
encourage participants to apply the 
knowledge and skills they learn in 
our training once they return to the 
workplace—particularly in high-hazard 
environments. We do this by embedding 
a method of measurement and 
evaluation into our training operations.

Developing Sustainable Business
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Training 
In 2016, IHSA training courses 
were held 9,352 times and 
88,022 participants were 
trained. That includes the 
number of participants trained 
by our external training 
partners. This represents a 
27% increase in the number of 
participants in 2016 over 2015. 

0 10000

Working at Heights 48,527
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Basics of Supervising

Traffic Control—
Temporary Work Zones

Transportation of Dangerous Goods

COR   Essentials

WHMIS

Lift Truck Operator

Hoisting and Rigging

School Bus Driver Improvement

JHSC Certification—Part 1
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20000 30000
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top 10 Courses by Participants in 2016

In 2016, 

88,022 
participants 

received IHSA 
training

That’s 

27% more 
participants 

than in  
2015

Gerry Murphy,
Health and Safety 
Consultant

During training, IHSA Instructor John Kelly diagrams a 
Traffic Control Plan
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We revised several of our training programs in 2016. 
The WAH course was updated to align more closely 
to the WAH Training Program Standard. In addition, 
a WAH Critical Task job aid was implemented for 
IHSA staff and all Associate Training Partners. This 
will help ensure consistency in the delivery of IHSA’s 
WAH course. Propane in Construction and Propane 
in Roofing were also updated to meet the Technical 
Standards and Safety Authority (TSSA) standard. 

In terms of new courses developed in 2016, our 
six JHSC Certification courses were all approved 
by the Prevention Office as meeting the JHSC 
Certification Training Program Standard. In addition, 
we developed an advanced supervisor program 
entitled Communication Skills for Supervising 
Health & Safety, which will complement our popular 
Basics of Supervising course. To reduce the large 
number of motor-vehicle incidents (MVIs) caused 
by cell phone use and other distractions, we also 
launched a Distracted Driving course in 2016. The new 
Suspended Access Equipment – Users course is the 
first of many we’re developing to address new training 
requirements in the Construction Projects regulation 
(213/91) for suspended work platform systems and 
boatswain’s chairs.

SAE – Users is the first of many courses being 
developed by IHSA to address new training 

requirements for suspended access equipment

A WAH Critical Task job aid was 
implemented to ensure consistent high-

quality delivery of the WAH course

Due to the rise in MVI fatalities from 
distractions while driving, IHSA developed 

a new Distracted Driving course
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Here is a complete list of the new training 
programs IHSA developed in 2016:
• Communication Skills for Supervising 

Health & Safety
• Distracted Driving
• Fleet Signing Authority Recertification
• JHSC Certification Part 1
• JHSC Certification Part 2 – 

Transportation
• JHSC Certification Part 2 – Utilities
• JHSC Certification Part 2 – 

Construction
• JHSC Certification Part 2 - Aggregates
• JHSC Certification Refresher
• Overhead Crane Operator 
• Suspended Access Equipment (SAE) – 

Users
• Transportation of Dangerous Goods 

Train-the-Trainer

To make it easier for our members 
to access our training courses, IHSA 
continued to rely on our Mobile Classroom 
to provide a training facility in remote 
locations. A new mobile classroom will be 
on the road in 2017 with more capacity to 
provide hands-on training such as WAH. 

To take advantage of the increased 
popularity and accessibility of online 
learning, we developed a COR™ Essentials 
e-learning program. As well, we 
collaborated with the Canadian Centre for 
Occupational Health and Safety (CCOHS) 
to create an OHS web tool. The tool 
and apps will provide a plain language 
summary of 50 topics covered under 
Ontario’s Construction Projects regulation 
(213/91).

Our COR™ Essentials course is 
now available online

IHSA’s Mobile 
Classroom is used 
for training and is a 
popular draw at events
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Measurement and 
evaluation 
One of the goals in IHSA’s strategic plan 
is to embed a framework of continuous 
measurement and evaluation into our 
training operations. Since 2015, IHSA has 
been collecting different levels of data for 
many of its training programs. In addition, 
knowledge evaluations are embedded into 
the course material so that learning can 
be evaluated and data can be analyzed. 
This has provided IHSA with a unique 
opportunity. We are able to demonstrate 
tangible value, not only to course 
participants, but also to their employers. 

Reaction (Level 1 data) measures how 
the participants react to the material 
(e.g., Did they learn new information?). If 
participants have a positive reaction to 
the course, they will be more likely to use 
the new information when they return to 
their jobs. However, if participants don’t 
find value in what they’re learning, they’re 
less likely to put it into action. 

Learning (Level 2 data) measures the 
participants’ knowledge (e.g., How much 
did they learn?). A pre-test is administered 
at the beginning of a course in order 
to capture how much each participant 
already knows about the subject. At the 
end of the course, participants are given a 
post-test to see if their level of knowledge 
has increased.

In 2016, IHSA continued to collect Level 
1 and Level 2 data from participants who 
completed the following IHSA courses:
• Asbestos Work in Construction – 

Hazard Awareness
• Basics of Supervising
• COR™ Essentials
• COR™ Internal Auditor
• Introduction to Hazard and Risk 

Management
• Working at Heights (WAH)
• Traffic Control – Temporary Work Zones
• WHMIS

We also continued to collect data from 
participants in the Line Crew Ground 

Support (LCGS) program and Powerline 
Technician Apprenticeship (PTA) Training. 
A total of 24 students completed the 
LCGS program in 2016 (12 in the spring 
and 12 in the fall). The average increase 
in knowledge from the pre-test to the 
post-test was 63% for these students. For 
PTA students, the average increase in 
knowledge was 14%.

IHSA instructors administered pre-tests and 
post-tests to powerline apprentices and other 

course participants to measure what they 
learned during training
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Here are a few highlights of Level 2 results showing how the knowledge level of participants 
increased as a result of completing an IHSA program. 

traffic Control—temporary Work Zones

Sample size: 744 participants

Sample size: 639 participants 
(IHSA instructors only)

50
answered
correctly 

on pre-test

answered 
correctly 

on post-test

% %Question
Signs used to inform 

motorists of work zone 
hazards are referred to 

as ____.

83
increase in
knowledge

%33

52
answered
correctly 

on pre-test

answered 
correctly 

on post-test

% %Question
What is the proper angle 

for the set‐up of a portable 
extension ladder?

90
increase in
knowledge

%38

Working at Heights—Fundamentals of Fall Prevention
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Working at Heights—Other Languages

Sample size: 303 participants

22
answered
correctly 

on pre-test

answered 
correctly 

on post-test

% %Question
Total Fall Distance consists 

of a Free Fall Distance 
of ____ or less.

85
increase in
knowledge

%63

49
answered
correctly 

on pre-test

answered 
correctly 

on post-test

% %Question
How many elements must 

you audit to complete 
the Ontario COR™ Audit?

87
increase in
knowledge

%38

COr™ Internal Auditor

Sample size: 177 participants 
(IHSA instructors only)



2016 IHSA Annual Report  69ihsa.ca

IHSA’s vision is workplaces without injuries, 
illnesses, or fatalities. When a worker is injured, 
killed, or becomes ill on the job, the human 
costs for the worker and their friends and family 
can be devastating.

It can also have emotional and social costs for 
other employees as well as financial costs for 
the company. Productivity is lost when other 
workers have to stop work or deal with the 
result of the incident. 

Financial costs can include not only lost work 
hours but also increased insurance premiums. 
Even a single injury can have far-reaching and 
debilitating effects on a business.

IHSA provides detailed injury performance data 
and occupational disease data for each of the 
28 rate groups we serve. This information can 
help a company understand the types of injuries 
and illnesses that workers in their sector are 
experiencing, which can help them determine 
where their health and safety resources will be 
most effective. Statistical data is provided for 
the previous full year performance as well as the 
five-year trend for the rate group.

Member Illness and Injury Performance 

Preventing injuries 
and fatalities has 
to be top of 
mind every 
workday. Not 
one of us 
wants to be 
part of that 
next statistic. 
All of us must 
take ownership of our 
responsibilities on the job.

 —George Gritziotis 
Chief Prevention Officer of Ontario

”

Visit the Statistics 
& Research section 
of ihsa.ca to access 
injury statistics for 

your rate group
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Measure 2016 2015 2014
 % Change % Change 

    2015 and 2016 2014 and 2016

Total Injury Rate 4.64 4.57 4.96 1.53% -6.45%

Total Injury Count 33,604 32,531 34,706 3.30% -3.18%

Traumatic Fatalities Count 32  34*  44  

Lost-Time Injury (LTI) Rate 1.29 1.19 1.30 8.40% -0.77%

LTI Count 9,359 8,511 9,086 9.96% 3.00%

Non-lost-time Injury  
(NLTI) Count 

24,204 23,986 25,565 0.91% -5.32%

Full-time Equivalent  
Workers (FTEs) 

723,842 712,248 699,538 1.63% 3.47%

Total Injury Rate = (LTIs + NLTIs + Traumatic Fatalities / FTEs) * 100
Total Injury Count = LTIs + NLTIs + Traumatic Fatalities + Disease Fatalities
LTI Rate = (LTIs/FTEs) * 100

*This number is taken from the WSIB/EIW 2016 Snapshot. Due to a lag time in the coding of claims, the fatality count 
for 2015 was understated in the 2015 Snapshot.

Source: WSIB/EIW 2016 Snapshot Current to March 2017, 2015 Snapshot Current to March 2016, and 2014 Snapshot 
Current to March 2015

Overall Injury Performance by IHSA rate Groups in 2016

The overall injury results for all IHSA rate groups 
in 2016 are disappointing when compared with 
2015. For the first year since we amalgamated 
in 2010, the injury results have begun trending 
upwards instead of downwards. However, if 
we take a step back and compare the 2016 
numbers with the numbers from 2014, we have 
reason for optimism. 

All of the statistical data for 2016 is 
an improvement over 2014, with the 
exception of the lost-time injury (LTI) 
count. Since the LTI rate decreased over 
this same period, this increase in the LTI 
count can be attributed to an increase of more 
than 3% in the number of full-time equivalent 
(FTE) workers between 2014 and 2016.

Injuries 
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The five-year injury trend for all IHSA 
rate groups has been downward except 
in 2016, when the Total Injury Rate and 
LTI Rate began going up 
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1.37 1.32 1.21 1.29

Source: WSIB/EIW 2016 Snapshot Current to March 2017

Overall Injury rates for IHSA rate Groups – Five-year trend
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For IHSA rate groups, the following hazards 
have been designated as “priority hazards” 
in terms of their frequency and severity.
• Musculoskeletal Disorders (MSDs)
• Falls
• Struck-bys
• Motor-Vehicle Incidents (MVIs)

With the addition of Critical Injuries, the 
injury data based on priority hazards is a 
good indicator of how successful our year 
has been in terms of injury prevention. 

In 2016, the number and rate of injuries 
from MSDs and Falls both increased from 
2015. However, if we look closer at the 

data, the number of falls to a lower level 
has steadily declined since the new WAH 
training came into effect (by 5.75% in 
2015 and 3.54% in 2016).

Even though the rate of injuries from 
MVIs and Struck-bys stayed the same in 
2016, the overall results for the year are 
disappointing compared with the results 
from the previous year (2014 to 2015), 
when most of the injuries from priority 
hazards went down. However, the rate 
of Critical Injuries stayed the same in 
2016, which is an improvement over the 
previous year, when they increased by 1%.

Priority hazards

*Struck-bys include contact with objects and contact with machinery and moving equipment.

†Contact with machinery and moving equipment is a sub-set of struck-bys, accounting for approximately 
10% of all struck-by injuries.

2016 2015 % Change 

Hazards LTI Count LTI Rate LTI Count LTI Rate  LTI Count   LTI Rate

MSDs 3,001 0.41 2,776 0.39 8.11% 5.13%

Falls 2,215 0.31 2,090 0.29 5.98% 6.90%

Struck-bys* 2,477 0.34 2,408 0.34  2.87% 0% 

  Contact with Machinery and Mobile Equipment† 242 0.03 250 0.04 -3.20% -25%

MVIs 364 0.05 366 0.05 -0.55% 0%

Critical Injuries 755 0.10 733 0.10 3.00% 0%
 
Source: WSIB/EIW 2016 Snapshot Current to March 2017 and 2015 Snapshot Current to March 2016

Lost-time Injuries by Priority Hazards in 2016
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Looking at the five-year trend, while 
the rate of MSD-related injuries has 
declined sharply and steadily (except 
for 2016), the rates of Falls and Struck-
bys have been more up and down. In 
fact, Falls and Struck-bys have been 
almost mirror images of one another—

when one goes upwards, the other 
goes downwards. That trend changed 
in 2016, with Falls increasing while 
Struck-bys stayed the same. The rates 
of MVIs and Critical Injuries, however, 
have remained relatively consistent 
over the last five years.
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Lost-time Injury rates by Priority Hazards – Five-year trend

Over the last five 
years, the rate of 
MSD injuries has 
declined sharply, 
while Falls and 

Struck-bys have 
gone up and down 

The rate of MVI 
and Critical
Injuries have 

remained 
consistent over the 

last five years
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Vulnerable workers have a greater 
exposure than most to conditions 
hazardous to health and safety and 
they often lack the power to alter those 
conditions. This includes Young Workers 
and New Workers. 

Looking at the lost-time injury (LTI) rates 
experienced by these two groups over the 

last five years, we can see that while the 
injury rate for New Workers has remained 
steady, and even declined in 2015, the 
rate for Young Workers has begun to 
trend upwards in 2016 after a steady 
decline since 2012. This upward trend is 
a reflection of the overall increase in the 
LTI rate for all IHSA members (from 1.19 in 
2015 to 1.29 in 2016).

Vulnerable workers 
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Lost-time Injury rates by vulnerable Workers – Five-year trend 

Although the 
LTI rate for Young 
Workers went up 

slightly in 2016, it has 
been steadily 

declining since 
2012
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To measure the severity of the lost-
time injuries experienced by our rate 
groups, IHSA pays special attention to 
high-impact claims. As defined by the 
WSIB, a high-impact claim is an injury 
to the lower back or shoulder or a 
fracture. These are injuries that can cost 
employers more than five times more 
than the average cost of an injury. 

Aside from the cost of losing a highly 
trained employee for a longer period 
of time, there are often hidden, indirect 
costs related to such things as incident 

investigation and damage to property 
and equipment. 

For IHSA member firms, injuries to the 
lower back continue to be the most 
costly high-impact claims for 2016, as 
was the case in 2015. While the number 
of lower back injuries increased by 
over 10% this year, fractures decreased 
by over 12% and shoulder injuries 
decreased by over 2%. Also, the overall 
total number of high-impact claims 
decreased by almost 1%.

High-impact claims

Source: WSIB/EIW 2016 Snapshot Current to March 2017

Lost-Time Injuries by High-Impact Claims in 2016

2016 2015 % Change 

Count Rate Count Rate Count Rate

Lower Back 1,539 0.21 1,391 0.19 10.64% 10.53%

Shoulder 634 0.09 651 0.09 -2.61% 0%

Fractures 1,155 0.16 1,313 0.18 -12.03% -11.11%

Total HI Claims 3,328 0.46 3,355 0.46 -0.80% 0%
 

While lower back 
injuries went up 
in 2016, shoulder 

injuries and fractures 
went down
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top 10 Lowest Lost-time Injury rates by rate Group in 2016

Rank             Rate Group LTI Rate

1 833 Electric Power Generation 0.13

2 838 Natural Gas Distribution 0.14

3 835 Oil, Power, and Water Distribution 0.55

4 723 Industrial, Commercial, and Institutional Construction 0.73

5 134 Aggregates 0.74

6 704 Electrical and Incidental Construction Services 0.79

7 711 Roadbuilding and Excavating 0.92

8 732 Heavy Civil Construction 0.95

9 707 Mechanical and Sheet Metal Work 1.02

10 497 Ready-Mix Concrete 1.05

Many of the rate groups represented by 
IHSA perform high-hazard work activities. 
However, each rate group has its own 
challenges when it comes to injury 
prevention. It’s often helpful for each 
group to know how they are progressing 
(i.e., to find out if the steps they’ve taken 
to reduce injuries in their sector have been 
successful). 

The rate groups with the best 
injury prevention rates for 
2016 are featured in the table 
below. Numbers 1 to 8 were also 
in the top 10 in 2015. We’d like to 
commend them on continuing their 
successful injury prevention strategies. 
We’d also like to welcome Mechanical 
and Sheet Metal (707) and Ready-Mix 
Concrete (497) to the top 10 this year.

Rate groups

Source: WSIB/EIW 2016 Snapshot Current to March 2017

Note: Rate Group 755: Non-Exempt Partners and Executive Officers in Construction was not included 

in the top 10 because partners and officers cannot perform any construction work on a site.
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top Lost-time Injury rate reduction by rate Group in 2016

Rank
         

   Rate Group
LTI Rate 
in 2016

LTI Rate 
in 2015

% Change

1 689 Waste Materials Recycling 2.09 2.27 -7.93%

2 723 Industrial, Commercial, and Institutional Construction 0.73 0.77 -5.19%

3 704 Electrical and Incidental Construction Services 0.79 0.82 -3.66%

4 134 Aggregates 0.74 0.76 -2.63%

5 732 Heavy Civil Construction 0.95 0.96 -1.04%

6 707 Mechanical and Sheet Metal Work 1.02 1.03 -0.97%

7 741 Masonry 1.85 1.86 -0.54%

Although only 7 of the 28 rate groups served by IHSA were able to lower their LTI rate in 
2016 compared with 2015, we congratulate them on their achievement.

Source: WSIB/EIW 2016 Snapshot Current to March 2017 and 2015 Snapshot Current to March 2016

Waste Materials 
Recycling (689) and ICI
Construction (723) were 
the most successful at 
reducing their LTI rate 
over the previous year

Visit the Statistics &
Research section of 
ihsa.ca to find the 
complete injury profile 
for your rate group
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Occupational 
disease 
Everyone has the right to return 
home healthy at the end of each 
day. In the same way that we 
need to prevent injuries from falls, 
we need to prevent work-related 
illnesses such as lung cancer. 

Occupational diseases can range 
from acute to chronic. In some 
cases, symptoms can be reduced 
or reversed. But too often they 
become something people 
have to live with for the rest of 
their lives. The most important 
thing to know is that they are all 
preventable.

In 2016, four important changes 
were made to regulations 
for Ontario workplaces that 
specifically addressed reducing 
exposure to health hazards in the 
workplace. It is hoped that these 
changes will lessen the number of 
workers who will suffer from an 
occupational disease in the future.

Regulation 381: Noise 
This new regulation places a duty on 
employers to protect workers from excessive 
exposure to noise. It sets out a maximum 
noise exposure level of 85 decibels (dBA) 
averaged over an 8-hour shift and requires the 
use of corresponding controls and measures 
to protect workers.

Regulation 213/91, Section 47: 
Carbon Monoxide
The Construction Projects regulation was 
amended to prevent carbon monoxide (CO) 
exposure while operating internal combustion 
engines in excavations, buildings, or other 
enclosed structures (except tunnels). Most 
notable is the requirement to test the air for 
CO levels and to have a written test strategy in 
place. (See O. Reg. 213/91, section 47.)
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Regulation 833: Control of Exposure 
to Biological and Chemical Agents 
An amendment now makes this regulation 
apply to construction projects and places a 
duty on employers to protect workers from 
dangerous levels of chemical agents. It sets 
out occupational exposure limits for chemicals 
in the air and requires that controls such as 
ventilation be considered before personal 
protective equipment (PPE) is used.

Regulation 860: WHMIS and the 
Canada Labour Code (Part X) 
The Workplace Hazardous Materials 

Information System (WHMIS) legislation 
was amended for both federally and 

provincially regulated workplaces. The 
changes bring the workplace duties 

in line with the new Hazardous Products 
Act and Regulation, which implement the 

Globally Harmonized System of Classification 
and Labelling of Chemicals in Canada.

Visit the occupational 
health section of the  
ihsa.ca website for 
information and resources 
to prevent occupational 
illness at your workplace.
ihsa.ca/occupational_
health

        

In 2016, four 
important changes 
were made to 
regulations for 
Ontario workplaces 
that specifically 
addressed 
reducing exposure 
to health hazards 
in the workplace
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Fatal diseases 
Two-thirds of the workplace 
fatalities in Canada are due 
to occupational disease, 
the remaining one-third 
are due to injury.* 
Health hazards such as 
asbestos or silica have 
caused more fatalities 
among IHSA member 
firms than any other 
types of hazards. 

Many workers may be 
exposed for years and decades 
before symptoms of a deadly disease 
arise. Mesothelioma, for example, 
can develop 20 to 50 years after 
exposure to asbestos. It accounts for 
approximately 27 fatalities each year 
for IHSA member firms, mostly to 
construction workers.†

Between 2006 and 2015, 542 fatal occupational 
disease claims were approved by Ontario’s 
Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB) for 
IHSA member firms.† Many of these occupational 
disease deaths were caused by diseases associated 
with asbestos exposure (i.e., mesothelioma, lung 
cancer, asbestosis, and gastrointestinal cancer). It 
is generally acknowledged that, for various reasons, 
these fatalities are an underrepresentation of the 

true number of deaths caused by occupational 
disease. 

The charts on the next page show that 
most of the fatal occupational disease 
claims for IHSA rate groups between 
2006 and 2015 are from asbestos-related 
diseases (91% in construction, 64% in 
transportation, and 79% in electrical 
and utilities). In construction, Chronic 
Obstructive Pulmonary Disorder (COPD) 
and diseases of the circulatory system 

are also cause for concern.

*Canadian Occupational Safety Magazine. “Canadian 
workplace fatalities lowest since 1999”. February/March 

2017.

† Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (2006 to 2015).

Construction

485
90%

Transportation

33
6%

Electrical and Utilites

24
4%

Over the last ten years, 90%  
of the occupational disease 
fatalities for IHSA member firms 
were from the construction sector

10 year
total
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Fatal Occupational Disease 
Claims in electrical and 
utilities 2006–2015

79% from
 Asebestos-relate

d
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ise
a
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Mesothelioma

58%
14

Lung cancer

21%
5

Other

21%
5

        

Fatal Occupational 
Disease Claims in 
Construction  
2006–2015

Note: Rate Groups included are 
134, 497, 704, 707, 711, 719, 723, 
728, 732, 737, 741, 748, 751, and 764.
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Mesothelioma

49%
240

Lung Cancer

33%
159

Asbestosis

5%
27

Gastrointestinal
Cancer

4%
18

COPD

2%
8

Circulatory
Diseases

2%
8

Other

5%
25

Total 
Fatalities

485

Total 
Fatalities

33

Total 
Fatalities

24

Note: Rate Groups included 
are 551, 553, 560, 570, 577, 
580, 584, 681, and 689.

Note: Rate Groups included 
are 830, 833, 835, and 838.

10 year
total

10 year
total

10 year
total

        

Most of the fatal occupational 
disease claims for IHSA 
rate groups are 
from asbestos-
related diseases

Fatal Occupational Disease 
Claims in transportation  
2006–2015
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non-Fatal Occupational Disease Claims for Construction (2006-2015)
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For construction workers, exposure to vibration (HAVS) is the second only to 
noise exposure (NIHL) as the cause of non-fatal occupational diseases

Exposure to toxic chemicals (burns, 
fumes, etc.) is a hazard for workers in all 
IHSA sectors

11,018

10 year
total

Non-fatal diseases  
Non-fatal occupational  
diseases among IHSA member 
firms have been caused by 
hazards such as excessive hand-
arm vibration syndrome (HAVS), 
chemical exposures, and hot 
temperatures. But mainly they are 
caused by exposure to excessive 
noise. Approximately 51% of non-
fatal disease claims among IHSA 
member firms were for noise-
induced hearing loss (NIHL). 

In 2016, the Ministry of Labour 
initiated an Occupational Disease 
Action Plan consisting of system 
partners who were tasked with 
investigating prevention initiatives 
to address diseases in the 
workplace. Several activities have 
been planned for 2017 with noise 
exposure being a main focus (see 
page 59).   

Source: Workplace Safety and 
Insurance Board (2006 to 2015)
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non-Fatal Occupational Disease Claims for transportation (2006-2015)

non-Fatal Occupational Disease Claims for electrical and utilities (2006-2015)
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Approximately 51% of non-fatal 
disease claims among IHSA 
member firms were for noise-
induced hearing loss (NIHL)
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Traumatic fatalities
Despite our best efforts to get 
the message out about the 
importance of working safely, our 
member firms still experienced a 
large number of fatalities. A total 
of 32 Ontario workers lost their 
lives in 2016.

The biggest increase from last 
year was the number of deaths 
from motor-vehicle incidents 
(MVIs)—14 in 2016, up from 8 in 
2015. The number of Struck-by 
fatalities also increased from 7 in 
2015 to 9 in 2016. However, the 
number of fatalities attributed to 
Falls decreased from 12 in 2015 to 
6 in 2016. Obviously there is still a 
lot of work to be done to protect 
the lives of working men and 
women in Ontario.

Source: WSIB/EIW 2016 Snapshot Current to March 2017

Note: Due to a lag time in the coding of claims, the fatality count for 2015 was understated in the WSIB/EIW 
2015 Snapshot, which was used as a data source for the 2015 Annual Report.

IHSA is striving to 
change the culture of the 
sectors we represent, as 
well as the mindset of 
the public who use the 
services of our sectors, 
that risks leading to 
workplace fatalities 
are unacceptable 
and require a 
greater level of 
engagement 
among all 
parties to 
ensure they are 
eliminated.

—Enzo Garritano,  
President and CEO, IHSA

“

Other
• 1 Electrocution 
• 1 Aircraft Accident
• 1 Suffocation

3 Total

MVIs
• 9 Motor Vehicle Collision
• 3 Loss of Vehicle Control
• 1 Struck by Vehicle 
• 1 Unspecified

14 Total

Falls
• 2 Fall from Equipment 

Collapsing
• 1 Fall from Roof 
• 1 Fall from Building 
• 1 Fall through 

Skylight 
• 1 Slip/Trip 

   6 Total

Struck-bys
• 4 Caught in/Crushed by 

Machinery
• 3 Struck by Falling 

Object
• 2 Struck by/Crushed by 

Object

   9 Total
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PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
PwC Tower, 18 York Street, Suite 2600, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5J 0B2
T: +1 416 863 1133, F: +1 416 365 8215

“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership.

May 10, 2017

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Members of
Infrastructure Health & Safety Association

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Infrastructure Health & Safety Association,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016 and the statements of
operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes, which
comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Audited Financial Statements
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Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Infrastructure Health & Safety Association as at December 31, 2016 and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
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Infrastructure Health & Safety Association
Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2016

Approved on Behalf of the Executive Board

__________________________________        __________________________________     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

2016
$

2015
$

Assets

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 13,493,196 11,894,654
Short-term investments (note 3) 8,900,788 5,406,031
Accounts receivable 1,330,126 820,060
Inventory 301,591 385,474
Prepaid rent and deposits (note 4) 592,755 248,636

24,618,456 18,754,855

Prepaid rent and deposits (note 4) 334,218 372,102

Long-term investments (note 3) 1,800,000 5,150,001

Investment in CHSI (note 5) 973,222 906,743

Capital assets (note 6) 210,460 323,430

27,936,356 25,507,131

Liabilities

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,357,072 2,840,515
Deferred revenue (note 7) 293,857 67,457
Customer deposits 436,014 405,415

4,086,943 3,313,387

Deferred revenue (note 7) 160,560 198,445

Deferred capital contributions (note 8) 25,852 95,091

Employee future benefits (note 9) 19,925,000 17,717,400

24,198,355 21,324,323

Net Assets

Invested in capital assets 184,608 228,339

Internally restricted for CHSI capital expenditures (note 10) 465,907 420,999

Unrestricted 3,087,486 3,533,470

3,738,001 4,182,808

27,936,356 25,507,131

Commitments and contingencies (notes 12 and 15)

Michael Frolick Joe Redshaw
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Infrastructure Health & Safety Association
Statement of Operations
For the year ended December 31, 2016

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

2016
$

2015
$

Revenue
Ministry of Labour (note 11) 22,966,313 24,459,540
Training and publication recoveries 8,890,555 8,529,062
Amortization of deferred capital contributions (note 8) 69,239 257,652
Sundry revenue 101,144 144,669
Share of income from Centre for Health & Safety Innovation (note 5) 66,479 105,951
Interest income 262,969 267,151
Amortization of deferred rent funding (note 7) 37,885 37,885

32,394,584 33,801,910

Expenditures
Salaries 16,010,628 16,157,284
Employee benefits 5,621,707 5,513,210
Occupancy 3,104,292 3,166,541
Travel and vehicle 1,789,703 1,874,577
Program delivery expenses 1,601,859 1,800,565
Advertising and promotion 935,421 253,003
Equipment and maintenance 666,732 1,276,878
Professional fees 387,418 655,300
Postage and courier 181,459 178,337
Personnel costs 168,773 229,317
Telecommunications 157,223 149,402
Office and general 152,800 136,598
Amortization of capital assets 112,970 306,317
Supplies and services 70,423 105,846
Research and library costs 25,283 23,601

30,986,691 31,826,776

Excess of revenue over expenditures for the year 1,407,893 1,975,134
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Infrastructure Health & Safety Association
Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended December 31, 2016

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

2016 2015

Invested
in capital

assets
$

Internally
restricted

for
CHSI

capital
expenditures

$
Unrestricted

$
Total

$
Total

$

Net assets - Beginning of year 228,339 420,999 3,533,470 4,182,808 1,336,274

Excess of revenue over expenditures for the year - - 1,407,893 1,407,893 1,975,134
Net activity in capital assets (43,731) - 43,731 - -
Interfund transfers - net - 44,908 (44,908) - -
Employee future benefits remeasurement (note 9) - - (1,852,700) (1,852,700) 871,400

Net assets - End of year 184,608 465,907 3,087,486 3,738,001 4,182,808
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Infrastructure Health & Safety Association
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2016

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

2016
$

2015
$

Cash provided by (used in)

Operating activities
Excess of revenue over expenditures for the year 1,407,893 1,975,134
Adjustment to reconcile excess of revenue over expenditures to net cash

provided by operating activities
Amortization of deferred capital contributions (69,239) (257,652)
Amortization of capital assets 112,970 306,317
Share of income from Centre for Health & Safety Innovation (66,479) (105,951)
Employee future benefits expense (note 9) 1,032,900 1,126,200
Employee future benefits paid (note 9) (678,000) (647,900)

Changes in non-cash working capital balances
Accounts receivable (510,066) 248,477
Inventory 83,883 56,582
Prepaid rent and deposits (306,235) 56,141
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 516,557 100,911
Deferred revenue 188,515 (318,018)
Customer deposits 30,599 104,463

1,743,298 2,644,704

Investing activity
Purchase of investments -net (144,756) (190,182)

Change in cash and cash equivalents during the year 1,598,542 2,454,522

Cash and cash equivalents - Beginning of year 11,894,654 9,440,132

Cash and cash equivalents - End of year 13,493,196 11,894,654
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Infrastructure Health & Safety Association
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2016

(1)

1 Nature and purpose of organization

Infrastructure Health & Safety Association (IHSA or the Association) was formed on January 1, 2010 by
amalgamating Construction Safety Association of Ontario, Electrical & Utilities Safety Association and
Transportation Health & Safety Association of Ontario. IHSA is a not-for-profit occupational health and safety
organization providing health and safety training material and services to Ontario’s construction, electrical and
utilities and transportation industries. IHSA assists organizations achieve safer and healthier work
environments by identifying and reducing workplace risks and hazards to prevent and reduce workplace
injuries, illness and disease. The Association’s mission is to develop sector specific partnerships and support
their implementation of prevention solutions that provide continuous improvement in health and safety
performance.

The Association is exempt from tax under Section 149(1)(I) of the Income Tax Act.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of accounting

The Association has prepared its financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for
not-for-profit organizations (ASNPO).

Revenue recognition

The Association follows the deferral method of accounting for funding. Restricted funding from the Ministry of
Labour (MOL) and other government ministries is deferred and recognized as revenue when the related
expenses are incurred. Training recoveries are recognized as revenue when services are rendered and there is
reasonable assurance of collection. Safety product recoveries relating to inventory are recognized as revenue
when goods are shipped and there is reasonable assurance of collection. Unrestricted funding is recognized as
revenue when received or receivable. Funding received for capital expenditures is deferred and recognized as
revenue on the same basis as amortization of the related assets.

Interest income is recognized into revenue when earned, on a time proportionate basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances with the Association’s bank and highly liquid
investments with original maturity dates of three months or less at the date of acquisition.
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Infrastructure Health & Safety Association
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2016

(2)

Capital assets

Capital assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is provided on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful life of the assets as follows:

Computer equipment 3 years
Computer software 3 years
Emergency response equipment 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Leasehold improvements term of lease

Acquisitions of less than $5,000 are expensed when purchased.

Impairment of capital assets

The Association monitors its use of capital assets and when the capital asset no longer has any long-term service
potential to the Association, the excess of its net carrying amount over any residual value is recognized as an
expense in the statement of operations.

Inventory

Course and seminar inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value and is expensed in program
delivery expenses. Cost is determined on an average cost basis.

Employee future benefits

a) Defined benefit post-retirement plan

The Association provides certain non-pension post-retirement benefits consisting of extended health and
other benefits. The defined benefit obligation is calculated based on the most recent actuarial valuation
report prepared for accounting purposes.

The Association determines its obligation as the difference between its total liabilities and related costs less
the fair value of the plan assets. Remeasurements and other items are charged to net assets as they occur.

The Association applies the following policies:

• The cost of retirement benefits earned by employees is actuarially determined using the projected
benefit method pro-rated on service and management’s best estimate of expected plan investment
performance for funded plans, salary escalation, retirement ages of employees and expected health-
care costs.

• Actuarial gains and losses arise when the actual return on plan assets differs from the expected return
on the plan assets for a period, or when the accrued benefit obligations change during the year. The
actuarial gains and losses are recorded in the statement of changes in net assets.
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b) Defined benefit pension plan

The employees of the Association are members of the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB)
Employee’s Superannuation Plan. The plan provides for partially indexed pensions based on years of
service and earnings rates near retirement. The investment activities and the administrative and
accounting matters of the pension are administered by the WSIB.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value when acquired or issued. All investments in money market
funds, bonds and guaranteed investment certificates are recorded at amortized cost. All other financial
instruments are reported at cost or amortized cost less impairment, if applicable. Financial assets are tested for
impairment when changes in circumstances indicate the asset could be impaired. Transaction costs on the
acquisition, sale or issue of financial instruments are expensed for those items remeasured at fair value at each
statement of financial position date and charged to the financial instrument for those measured at amortized
cost.

Investment in Centre for Health & Safety Innovation

The Association is a founding member of Centre for Health & Safety Innovation (CHSI), a not-for-profit
corporation that provides shared premises for the Association and one other Ontario health and safety
organization. Under its membership agreement, the Association is party to a joint venture with one other party.
The Association paid a fee of 25.64% of the startup and operating costs of CHSI up to December 31, 2006. The
Association maintains a 25.64% share in CHSI while Workplace Safety & Prevention Services maintains a
74.36% share. In addition, the Association has chosen to use the equity basis to account for its proportionate
share of the annual operating results of CHSI.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with ASNPO requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from management’s best estimates as additional
information becomes available in the future.
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3 Investments

Investments consist of $788 (2015 - $451,705) in Canadian money market funds and the remaining amount in
bonds and guaranteed investment certificates earning interest with rates ranging from 1.25% to 2.15% annually
and maturing between February 10, 2017 and September 10, 2021.

2016
$

2015
$

Investments - total 10,700,788 10,556,032
Amounts maturing within one year 8,900,788 5,406,031

Investments - long-term 1,800,000 5,150,001

As at December 31, 2016, the fair value of the investments was $10,763,668 (2015 - $10,529,022).

4 Prepaid rent and deposits

2016
$

2015
$

Deposit on Voyageur Court premises 135,213 135,213
Deposit on Skills Development Centre premises 25,000 25,000
Long-term prepaid rent 161,004 198,889
Deposit on CHSI premises 50,885 50,885
January’s prepaid premises rent 159,589 155,210
Other 395,282 55,541

926,973 620,738
Less: Current portion 592,755 248,636

Long-term 334,218 372,102

The long-term prepaid rent resulted from contributions to the Association for the Skills Development Centre
location to help meet the rent payment obligations. These contributions were paid to the landlord as a
prepayment of rent in order to reduce the monthly rent payments and are amortized into expenses over the
term of the lease agreement.

5 Investment in Centre for Health & Safety Innovation

CHSI is a not-for-profit organization, incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario on September 8,
2004, whose purpose is to create a focal point for innovation and applied learning in the prevention of
workplace injuries and illnesses and to act as a key resource for employers, employees and others seeking
expertise and direction on how to make workplaces safer. The organization is exempt from income taxes under
Section 149(1)(I) of the Income Tax Act.
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The audited financial statements as at December 31, 2016 of CHSI have not been issued yet. The information
below reflects the financial results in the draft financial statements as reported on by CHSI’s management:

CHSI
$

IHSA
25.64% share

$

Assets 4,862,892 1,246,845
Liabilities (1,067,177) (273,624)

Net assets 3,795,715 973,221

Operating results (year ended December 31, 2016)
Revenue 5,653,193 1,449,479
Expenses (operating) (5,100,859) (1,307,860)

Excess of revenue over expenses 552,334 141,619
Expenses (transfer to replacement reserve) (293,058) (75,140)

Increase in net assets 259,276 66,479

Cash flows
Operating 472,644 121,186
Financing - -
Investing (568,850) (145,853)

Decrease in cash during year (96,206) (24,667)

2016
$

2015
$

Investment consists of
Balance - Beginning of year 906,743 800,792
Proportionate share of excess of revenue over expenses 66,479 105,951

Balance - End of year 973,222 906,743
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6 Capital assets

2016 2015

Cost
$

Accumulated
amortization

$
Net

$
Net

$

Computer equipment 43,052 43,052 - -
Computer software 65,963 65,963 - -
Emergency response

equipment 998,988 995,658 3,330 25,481
Furniture and fixtures 486,642 463,767 22,875 70,074
Leasehold improvements 1,322,770 1,138,515 184,255 227,875

2,917,415 2,706,955 210,460 323,430
7 Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue represents unspent funds from the MOL and other funded programs reflected under the Skills
Development Centre. The changes in the deferred operating funding balances are as follows:

2016 2015

Skills
Development

Centre
$

MOL
$

Total
$

Total
$

Balance - Beginning of year 211,330 54,572 265,902 583,920
Additional funding 226,400 - 226,400 -
Amortization of deferred rent

funding (37,885) - (37,885) (37,885)
Recognition of deferred revenue

(note 11) - - - (280,133)

399,845 54,572 454,417 265,902
Less: Current portion 264,285 29,572 293,857 67,457

Long-term portion 135,560 25,000 160,560 198,445

The long-term portion relates to funds contributed to the Association for the Skills Development Centre
location to help meet the rent payment obligations. These contributions were paid to the landlord as a
prepayment of rent in order to reduce the monthly rent payments and are amortized into revenue over the term
of the lease agreement.

The long-term portion also includes $12,441 (2015 - $12,441) relating to future capital expenditures for the
Skills Development Centre location.
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8 Deferred capital contributions

Deferred capital contributions represent the unamortized amount and unspent amount of contributions
received for the purchase of capital assets.

2016
$

2015
$

Balance - Beginning of year 95,091 352,743
Amortization of deferred capital contributions (69,239) (257,652)

Balance - End of year 25,852 95,091

9 Employee future benefits

The Association provides extended health-care, dental and life insurance benefits to all full-time employees
hired by the legacy associations prior to amalgamation on retirement to the age of 65, with the following
exceptions:

• For former Electrical & Utilities Safety Association employees, these benefits extend to age 65 for
employees hired subsequent to January 1, 2007. Benefits may be extended beyond age 65 at the discretion
of the employee and the assumption of 50% of the cost by the employee. For employees hired prior to
2003, benefits extend for the employee’s lifetime.

• For former Construction Safety Association of Ontario employees, no future benefits are provided for
employees hired subsequent to August 1, 2001. For employees hired prior to August 1, 2001, benefits
extend for the employee’s lifetime.

In addition to the extended health-care, dental and life insurance benefits, the Association also provides exit
benefits to employees in accordance with the Association’s policy.

Components of the accrued benefit obligation are as follows:

2016
$

2015
$

Post-retirement benefits 18,568,600 16,244,900
Exit benefits 1,356,400 1,472,500

19,925,000 17,717,400
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The defined benefit obligation relating to post-retirement benefit plans as at December 31 is as follows:

2016
$

2015
$

Accrued benefit liability - Beginning of year 17,717,400 18,110,500
Current service cost 307,800 398,800
Interest cost on obligation 725,100 727,400

18,750,300 19,236,700
Benefit payments (678,000) (647,900)
Actuarial (gain) loss recognized in statement of changes in net

assets 1,852,700 (871,400)

Accrued benefit liability - End of year 19,925,000 17,717,400

Benefit plan expense
Current service cost 307,800 398,800
Interest on defined benefit obligation 725,100 727,400

1,032,900 1,126,200

The latest actuarial valuation of the post-retirement benefit plans was prepared as at December 31, 2016. The
significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Association’s defined benefit obligations are as
follows:

2016
%

2015
%

Health-care increase per annum 5.00 5.00
Discount rate 3.90 4.10
Dental care increase per annum 3.00 3.00
Salary increase per annum 1.00 3.00
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The Association intends to fund its defined benefit obligation with the following assets:

$

Cash and cash equivalents 2,423,112
Short-term investments 8,900,788
Long-term investments 1,800,000

13,123,900
Less: Accrued benefit obligation - end of year (19,925,000)

Total unfunded employee benefit obligation (6,801,100)

Defined benefit pension plan

Employees belong to the WSIB Employee’s Superannuation Plan, a multi-employer defined benefit plan with
employer contributions in the year amounting to $2,415,533 (2015 - $2,253,271), which are included in
employee benefits expense.

10 Internally restricted fund for CHSI capital expenditures

The Board approved setting up an internally restricted fund in fiscal 2012 for the Association’s share of future
capital expenditures relating to CHSI. The fund was designated based on a reserve fund study performed on
CHSI in 2011. In the current year, the Association allocated $120,048 (2015 - $114,824) to this fund. These
amounts represent the Association’s share of CHSI’s replacement reserve fund.

11 Ministry of Labour

MOL funding consists of the following:

2016
$

2015
$

Approved original funding allocation 22,966,313 24,179,407
Deferred revenue taken into revenue (note 7) - 280,133

22,966,313 24,459,540

The MOL’s surplus investment policy states that the Association’s operations are not to result in a deficit
position at the end of any government fiscal year. The amount of surplus that is eligible to be retained by the
Association will be a maximum of 6% of the previous year’s audited total actual revenue including government
transfer payments. Any amount in excess of the 6% maximum amount may be recovered by MOL in the
following year through reduction of transfer payment funding.

Surplus funds must be used to support MOL’s commitment to enhance health and safety in Ontario workplaces.
No surplus funds can be used without written approval from MOL. MOL will notify the Association in writing in
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a timely manner regarding decisions related to proposed retention of surpluses. The use of surplus funds
approved to be retained by the Association will be tracked by the Association and reported to MOL. Any amount
not approved to be retained will be recovered by MOL.

12 Commitments

The Association has operating leases for various office premises and equipment with minimum annual
payments to non-related parties as follows:

$

2017 1,425,024
2018 1,417,440
2019 1,394,688
2020 1,394,688
2021 770,547
Thereafter 2,531,250

8,933,637

13 Related party transactions

The Association subleases its premises from CHSI and pays its proportionate rental area share of the operating
costs. Any surplus (deficiency) in CHSI will be shared by the members based on their proportionate rentable
areas (note 4). During the year, CHSI charged rental and operating costs of $951,914 (2015 - $929,947). These
transactions occur in the normal course of operations, and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the
amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties, and approximates the arm’s length
equivalent value.
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Minimum annual rental lease payments are as follows:

$

2017 453,588
2018 453,588
2019 453,588
2020 453,588
2021 113,397

1,927,749

14 Economic dependence

The Association is dependent on the MOL for funding the cost of operations.

15 Contingencies

The Association may, from time to time, be subject to claims and legal proceedings brought against it in the
normal course of business. Such matters are subject to many uncertainties. Management believes adequate
provisions have been made in the accounts where required and the ultimate resolution of such contingencies
will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Association. Any amounts in settlement of
claims in excess of recorded provisions will be charged to the statement of operations in the year of claim.

16 Financial risk management

The Association is exposed to certain financial instrument risks, such as credit risk, interest rate risk and
liquidity risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing
to discharge an obligation. The Association’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit
risk relate primarily to cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable, and long-term
investments. The Association manages its exposure to this risk by maintaining its cash and investments with a
major Schedule I bank and where feasible obtaining prepayment for courses held. Accounts receivable are net
of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $50,866 (2015 - $58,279).

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Association is exposed to interest rate risk arising from the possibility that
changes in interest rates will affect the value of fixed income denominated investments.
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk the Association will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with
financial liabilities. Liquidity risk arises from accounts payable and accrued liabilities, employee future benefits
and commitments. The Association continues to focus on maintaining adequate liquidity to meet operating
working capital requirements and capital expenditures.

17 Comparative figures

Certain of the prior year comparative figures have been restated to conform to the current year’s presentation.
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